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AS THE ILLUMINATING BEACON to the

life science industry Alexanria

has pioneered its unique niche with

unmatched leadership and ingenuity

as the first and best-in-class REIT

focused on providing high-quality

sustainable scientific research

environments to this broad and diverse

sector Since its founding in 1994 SEC

Alexandria has demonstrated consistent

and solid operating performance as

result of its commitment to six

fundamental principles LEADERS

BUSINESS SCIENCE RELATIONSHIPS

HUMANITY and STABILITY Adherence

to these principles has guided

Alexandria fromits inception through

varying economic cycles and will

enable the Company to sustain its

leadership position



ALL OPUS1 IN ONE WAY OR ANOTHER HAVE BEEN SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECTED

by the events that unfolded in 2008 and 2009 The deleterious impact

of numerous cumulative financial ctlvrties set the stage for the

dramatic dro in the global equity markets the freezing of credit markets

and tire sesere negative impact on economies around the world and

importantly on jobs As the leaders of Alexandria our iesponslbllity Is

to ensure that our Company Is prepared to deal with Iveise conditions

in order to ameliorate the downside and position our Company to

ke advant ge of the potential future positive turn in overall market

cor ditlons We feel we did this successfully In 2009.0w unIque

and propnetary business model and strategy which we pioneered

proved extrenely stable Our client tenants employees and culture

have also proven to be remarkably resilient In such highly stressful

times 2009 tsas our fifteenth year as the leader ol our umque life

science laboratory niche

During tha year we honored the legacy of our principal founder and

usionary Jerry Sudarsk who passed away on March 2009 Jerry

assistec in hying the foundation for sustainable long-term growth and

consistent opiational and financial outperfoimance

In 2009 ftlexandna demonstrated the stability and durability

of our co operations continuing to provide best In-class laboratory

space id unique services to tie broad and diverse life science Industry

Since our mit al public offering IPO In May 1997 our operating rnsults

have been steady 2009 was no different resulting in over decade of

leadership In total return performance JOEL MARCUS

We are ye proud to report compound annual growth rate from

our lPO through December 31 2009 of approximately 15% in total return and co Found.r

appioxlmatek 29% in total assets approxImately 27% in total market

cap talizatlon and approxImately 21% In funds from operations Over

this period of more than twelve years we ranked fifth in total return

among all publicly traded equity ELlis demonstrating one of the real

estate ii dust absolute top growtl rates Our total shareholder

return hom our IPO through Deccmber 312009 approximated 456%
Alexanc nas flellar total return vastly outperformed the 158% total return

of the FiB NAREIT Fqulty RE1T Index the 93% total return of the Russell

2000 lr dex and the 63% total return of the SP 500 Index These are truly

outstanding rcomplishments achieved during challenging and varying

business cycles

Our comb ned expertise in the real estate and life science Industries Is

unparalleled Our unique and highly focused strategy Is diligently crafted

and executed ur stability has been driven by the successful day-to-day

necutic.p of our differentiated nd popritar strategy multifaceted

business model and highly efficient strategic operating platform focused

on our life science laboratory niche

ALIXANOMAREA ESTA1UQUmESINC



THE LIFE SCIENCE INDUSTRY AND OUR CLIENT TENANTS
The quality diversity breadth and depth of our significant relationships

with our life science client tenants provide Alexandria with consistent and

solid cash flows As of December 31 2009 Alexandrias multinational

pharmaceutical client tenants represented approximately 28% of

our annualized base rent led by Novartis AG Roche Holding Ltd
GlaxoSmithKline plc Pfizer Inc Johnson Johnson and Merck Co
Inc revenue-producing life science product and service companies

represented approximately 20% led by Quest Diagnostics Incorporated

Qiagen N.y Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings and Monsanto

Company public biotechnology companies represented approximately
17% and included the three largest in the sector Amgen Inc Gilead

Sciences Inc and Celgene Corporation government agencies and

renowned medical and research institutions represented approximately
15% and included The Scripps Research Institute Massachusetts Institute

of Technology Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Centei University

of Washington Sanford-Burnham Medical Research Institute and the

United States Government private biotechnology companies represented

approximately 13% and included high-quality leading-edge companies
with blue-chip venture and institutional investors including Ambrx Inc
Intellikine Inc MacroGenics Inc and Tolerx Inc and the remaining

approximately 7% consisted of traditional office tenants Two of the

fastest-growing client tenant sectors by revenue currently include leading

institutional and multinational pharmaceutical entities Alexandrias

strong life science underwriting skills long-term life science industry

relationships and sophisticated management with both real estate and life

science
operating expertise set the Company apart from all other publicly

traded REITs and real estate companies
The life science industry fared better than many other sectors in 2009

due to the continuous demand for existing and new medical products

and services coupled with increased federal funding for scientific

research The life science industry offers critical solution to rising

health care expenditures in the United States which are estimated to

reach $4.5 trillion or 19% of GDP by 2019 Through the development

and commercialization of novel therapeutics and diagnostics the life

science industry will enable significant cost containment by providing
new products to detect prevent treat manage and ultimately cure

wide range of diseases Additionally the vitality of the life science

industry has been further enhanced by the expanded federal funding for

scientific research institutions and government agencies included in the

federal economic stimulus bill as well as by increasing annual budgets
for the National Institutes of Health and the National Science Foundation

Substantial public and private funding is also flowing to the renewable

energy sector

With strong balance sheets strategic commitments to investing in

2009ANNLJAL REPORT



research and development and the urgency to access innovation the

pharmaceutical industry is adapting and reinventing its business models

in ways that directly benefit Alexandria Acquisitions and partnering

activities among pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies

reached record levels in 2009 as the pharmaceutical industry sought

to boost its drug development pipeline These substantial acquisition

and partnering activities have enhanced the credit quality of numerous

Alexandria client tenants We also witnessed the completion of the mega

mergers of Pfizer Inc and Wyeth Roche Holding AG and Genentech Inc

and Merck Co Inc and Schering-Plough Corporation

While the pharmaceutical industrys strategic commitment to

investing in innovative research and development remains strong it is

rapidly adapting its business model to create more focused innovative

and productive companies positioned to maintain global competitiveness

To achieve these goals the pharmaceutical industry is becoming laser

focused on key strategic areas of science while reducing non-core research

and development efforts Multinational pharmaceutical companies .-

are also seeking to capture revenue growth in fast growing emerging

markets and through expansion in consumer medicines vaccines and

generic drugs Importantly multinational pharmaceutical companies are

strategically migrating to the key adjacency touch points of innovation
LCLL Li

in tight infill life science cluster submarkets while scaling back and biO cci iXO
decentralizing remote large campus locations These adjacency cluster CO7TjITU

locations which are dominated by Alexandria provide the entrepreneurial St cci egic research

and collaborative environments needed to advance scientific discoveries

from the laboratory bench to the marketplace

Alexandria unique cluster business model continues to drive its

consistent performance in these unprecedented economic times In

2009 the successful nature of this model was once again demonstrated

as leading life science companies continued to strategically locate in

Alexandrias world-class cluster submarkets adjacent to premier scientific

research institutions testament to our successful business model

each one of the worlds fifteen largest pharmaceutical and biotechnology

companies has strategic research units in Alexandria properties in our key

cluster submarkets Top pharmaceutical companies including affiliates

of GlaxoSmithKline plc Pfizer Inc and Novartis AG signed new leases

in 2009 at Alexandrias Technology Square at MIT in Cambridge adjacent

to the MIT campus to encourage more collaborative innovative

and productive model for drug discovery An affiliate of Eli Lilly and

Company signed significant lease in 2009 at Alexandria Center for Life

Science New York City for its new oncology headquarters to collaborate

with the numerous neighboring world-renowned scientific research

institutions Additionally Gilead Sciences Inc and Celgene Corporation

affiliates recently expanded through new leases with Alexandria in

Seattle and Mission Bay respectively The clustering of multinational

ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES INC



pharmaceutical companies world-renowned academic researchers and

leading biotechnology companies creates the highly collaborative and

innovative atmosphere necessary for the development of future medical

breakthroughs and contributes to the overall long-term sustainability of

the life science industry

OPERATIONAL REVIEWAND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2009 will be long remembered as historic year where during the first

quarter the financial and credit systems were on the precipice of collapse
The markets were extremely volatile with fears of complete global

financial and economic breakdown at the forefront of world leaders

concerns In the face of these monumental challenges Alexandria

successfully raised capital to strengthen our balance sheet deleverage
and position ourselves to take advantage of the significant opportunities

existing in our value-added development and redevelopment pipeline in

San Francisco New York City and Cambridge In total we raised nearly
$850 million through four transactions over the course of the year

In March we were the first REIT to lead the market in
raising common

equity While very difficult decision particularly given where the stock

was trading at the time we believed this decision was prudent given the

real possibility of banking collapse or contagion further spreading

throughout the financial system which effectively would have closed any
window for raising capital This decisive move was followed by many
other REITs

In addition to this equity offering we raised approximately $233

million through the private offering of our 8.00% unsecured convertible

notes and $120 million in secured loan with significant life insurance

company Importantly this debt investor had
previously never financed

property in the life science sector We believe these financing activities

represent significant validation of Alexandria our business and the

unique niche asset class that we pioneered

With these capital raises we also reduced principal balances of

secured loans by approximately $267 million and repurchased in

privately negotiated transactions approximately $75 million of our 3.70%

unsecured convertible notes We also extended maturities and refinanced

secured loans totaling approximately $159 million

During 2009 we sold four properties aggregating approximately

112000 rentable square feet to life science users These sales reflect our

ongoing program to continually and critically evaluate the
strategic value

of all of our properties and sell certain properties when appropriate to

prudently repay debt or accretively recycle capital

Given these efforts we are satisfied with our current liquidity position
As of December 31 2009 we had approximately $95 million of cash on
hand including approximately $24 million of cash restricted for use in

2009 ANNUAL REPORT



construction projects Additional liquidity of approximately $674 million

is available on our $1.15 billion unsecured line of credit and our $750

million unsecured term loan

Once again in 2009 full-year growth in U.S generally accepted

accounting principles GAAP net operating income for our pool of

same properties was positive approximating 2.8% and cash net operating

income for these properties grew approximately 4.7% Our same

property growth which has been positive for 46 consecutive quarters

represents broad-based long-term and continuing stable performance

in our markets Contributing to this growth approximately 93% of

our leases have annual rental rate increases generally with minimum

annual increases of at least Rental rate increases for lease rollovers

in our asset base which have been positive every year since our IPO

approximated 3.5% on GAAP basis for 2009 driving our internal

core growth

2009 was one of the most active leasing years in the Companys

history We signed total of 142 leases for approximately 1864000

rentable square feet of space which represented record year for

Alexandria As of December 31 2009 we reported total occupancy

rate of approximately 94.1 Additionally our average occupancy

rate as of December 31 of each year from 1998 through 2009 was

approximately 95.3%

In very cost-conscious environment we have continued to focus

on controlling the costs of our operations to both maintain our high

operating margins which approximated healthy 74% during 2009 and

sustain strong year end interest and fixed charge coverage ratios of 4.2

and 2.8 times respectively

As of December 31 2009 as at all times during our existence we

were in compliance with our financial covenants under our unsecured

line of credit and unsecured term loan Additionally we believe our capital

and business plan will allow us to continue to remain in compliance

with these covenants Our dividend payout ratio remained among
the industrys lowest at approximately 28.5% for the quarter ended

December 31 2009

THE LESSON5 AND OUR TEAM

2009 will be defined as very tough year focused on risk management
We decisively managed our liquidity and leverage positions as well as our

capital operating and administrative expenditures We also preserved

and protected our invaluable human capital base was the first and

maybe only CEO to voluntarily reduce my base salary by one-third to

demonstrate top-level commitment to very stringent cost controls

Our team client tenants shareholders and the world at large faced one of

the most difficult economic periods in history Through it all our people
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maintained rigorous focus It is the unparalleled strength and experience

of our employees that drive our continued success Our team members

bring an impressive breadth of knowledge understanding and expertise

in both the life science and real estate industries and are hand-picked

from the top of their respective fields

We are extremely proud of our long-tenured team which brings an

unrivaled level of leadership and on-point experience Fifteen of these

superb individuals are featured in this annual report These individuals

are representative of the capabilities strength and depth of our best-in-

class leadership

TRADITION OF SERVICE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Good citizenship remains integral to the fabric of Alexandrias mission

Landlord of Choice to the Life Science Industry Just as our business

practices enable science to advance the human condition through

discovery our community relationships seek to improve the quality of

life of those around us through outreach smart partnering and

responsible operations

Our collaboration between company and community achieved

meaningful success in 2009 We continue to expand the breadth of

Operation Outreach in our local communities Since its inception in 2003

this program has served the needs of military service members and their

families This commitment continued in 2009 as we provided financial

assistance to individual families in our community and partnered with

the Armed Services YMCA to augment specific requested needs of

multiple families

Alexandria also increased community engagement through employee

volunteerism with organized activities at local non-profit service providers

including food banks and family rehabilitation centers We also launched

national campaign across nine regions to partner our employees our

client tenants and third-party service providers to collect food clothing

and toys during the November and December holiday seasons Alexandria

encouraged participation by matching the value of all proceeds received

These collection drives contributed much-needed supplies to eighteen

non-profit organizations who then distributed the proceeds to hundreds of

people in need within our local communities

Alexandria received strong philanthropic recognition when City

of Hope leading research and treatment center for cancer diabetes

and other life-threatening diseases honored Alexandria as well as

bestowed the Lifetime Achievement Award to Alexandrias principal

founder the late Jerry Sudarsky in recognition of his significant

philanthropic and business accomplishments Our alignment with

City of Hopes scientific research and critical treatment of patients

exemplifies Alexandrias strong relationship as an industry partner

2009ANNUALREPORT



To further advance our commitment to improve the world around us

we developed multifaceted framework for corporate social responsibility

defined by four pillars

BEST-IN-CLASS SUPPORT TO THE LIFE SCIENCE INDUSTRY We make every effort

to optimize the working environment of our client tenants so they can

improve lives around the globe through scientific discovery

SUSTAINABLE BUILDING PRACTICES Our buildings provide world-class

facilities and cutting-edge equipment that also set the standard for

Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design LEED laboratory

projects

CORPORATE GIVING THROUGH OPERATION OUTREACH Alexandria dedicates

resources to support our local communities through among other

activities science education for youth and much needed assistance to

military service members and their families

EMPLOYEE VOLUNTEERISM Our employees strengthen our relationships

with our communities and the programs that serve them through personal P31Y
stewardship and the dedication of their own time and talents dooed Lo ro

ad/frenco

We at Alexandria are proudly devoted to making difference in our OUT COiflifl U/LU US

communities by contributing time effort and philanthropic support to Li CO/1rTLOWL
our environment and its natural resources the people that surround us UirLa etfori aucL

and those that we faithfully serve

support-

SUSTAINABLE BUILDING AND OPERATIONAL PRACTICES

With environmental concerns remaining at the forefront of our global

awareness and the
ever-increasing need for operating efficiency

Alexandria continues advancing green practices in all aspects of its

operations At the leading edge of sustainable building practices

our initiatives include addressing utility Consumption incorporating

environmentally friendly materials and educational outreach to our

client tenants and our employees Our dedication and commitment to

incorporating environmental best practices into our projects continues

to be rewarded with many of our cutting-edge life science laboratory

properties receiving LEED certification four Silver Certifications and

two Gold Certifications including the first LEED Silver Certification in

California for core and shell office/laboratory project In addition to our

achievements to date we are currently pursuing no less than LEED Silver

Certification or its equivalent at eighteen additional properties located

in key cluster submarkets Finally Alexandria has embarked on number

of fronts to lower overall operating costs for our client tenants including

central plant optimization projects renewable energy initiatives and

ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES INC



green housekeeping practices From our Companys inception Alexandria

has led the development of laboratory space for the life science sector and

we remain dedicated to maintaining our leadership position as pioneers

of forward-thinking green initiative to build upon our specialized and

sustainable niche

LOOKING TO THE FUTURE

Vº hove

provee hrrn
rhat is eLeuao

iflI neactto

OUT i2rc TLU

diverse 1fscieere

UOTLtiLUe1ic

The past two years have been historic and unprecedented Our goals for

2010 and beyond are simple iJ maintain solid and flexible balance

sheet with adequate liquidity near-term obligations that are modest

together with multiple sources of stable earnings and cash flows ii

continue operational leadership that ensures our durable and distinctive

competitive advantage and iii nurture our outstanding operating

managers who over the years have been invaluable in contributing to

Alexandrias exceptional results

We manage Alexandria with long-term focus to create value for

long-term total return investors and our owner employees We are

convinced that this is the best way to run our business The integration

of our business model and differentiated strategy is powerful and unique
We have proven brand that is relevant and impactful to our broad and

diverse life science constituency whom we deeply respect and consider an

integral part of our team As we have stated before our culture is defined

by unparalleled excellence earnest service cutting-edge creativity and

innovation interdependent teamwork mutual respect responsibility and

unwavering integrity At Alexandria our mandate is to preserve protect

and grow our leadership position We are well positioned to do so and

look forward to consistently delivering once again on our promise

JOEL MARCUS

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

ANO CO-FOUNDER
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OUR FOUNDING PRINCIPLES
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LONG-TERM CLIENT TENANT RELATIONSHIPS

axanc racc ad at acLa La

an- \aanJrs an as aLas

cenaan Llr a- cnt cass

c0 fcc asanmLrnart xVJ a- 55

ar eLar1 as ma er.fcS
cc adacoaL cacasc1 V5V

ce-a1 rf as -raaacPcsbmca oaL
fl sx ccc -Ia Ic iC1

becan aeL rP -incr -1 xataa/amcacpL
2OLa /L --ri1 a-os Vca ib

srvur ax 0rnjssaa air fSOSSCaa

ca Aca cab SPare acio aPa-tmc
aca scia.a 12

P31/055 am si/La acas

Pc 5.1 1aaar\m as Ci cf-3a Lx

rt bra k-cab- xtccaa sacs

nIP arcs
ac iasm adasa as adnc

Dr
ci a/onc haa ic

cml agfaL -Ia it

LV box r5i H-5-ate asc tinacaa Pa-
aaomxrca mc

ft

are csu-
a- Vaica

byLariaaai aair mc
cacna

Pa Ia is ax macis aim aguLarr mm
.cI-r1nj5 bPaca1-ao

Pa oH en as as

as as as

sam iNSitE cc /1ndieaa /Raan -ax

ft ccci -nc La ii

LC an

THE SUCCESS OF ALEXANDRIAS BUSINESS

MODEL gaL baea or xpirorni

mt orH asvtn

id sam cram
dar c/a xc iS

ama c/an- ia5/5
cc and

-macia ax sIv/an cLaP

mprcclc as- ca pmt spate

as ci adaft eanns as

Li mrs mmd sw c-c

ttbeiam La c-arm

rirnaam im xi-

H/alaS

laos-c- as am asisari

ayes 1- apr-m ci macam

lSta VS acm ci

eac.naaaaacasiarCi r-- nls
cc cal as bo al -cc

c-/cam as

an ar aitiatgi cdt
ala as ru-n id

rctcyanv ram

sxLtvarHc ac fj

apLcc -alr cr 1-m c-am

adO Vc cm cxc l-ir

asiuabc Is f-aSh

icr- ar5c flf caL ri

Lkift

i/ V5S5m /Vi-i asIm aLad LJLaJ5 ktLk

Scerce teL ri2C02 Ti
hcI pidIjt7 oratory spaca

iipeo In oaro

çtpoh fo TciprtaiftT

bioLarmaoaiaioaiccropaiy

JOHN MARAGANORE 5h

am ac a-

IL



II



tv

i$

45

5S

55 55S
4S

r4
55

54
555

SSS 5SS

SS5S 55

55 45

SSS5
SSSSSS4

55 S5S5

SS55
4S

45555

5Jui4
fr



AT THE HEART OF ALEXANDRIA IS ITS

FOCUSONHUMANITYJ Jr

ru orOfl

i001 10 J.i
00

orJn onp
CJC CD 00

QE fl

bLIOu

CO 10C0 -1

0DC u- ru ho

Jt O0
0001 flUIh

ruiu Il

poor IV fl

ro

-1

ALEXANDRIACOMMITSITSELF t-

0flCD0k0SLC o00ico1Coc

SUSTAINABILITY 2-0 00
hoiro2Cflru 1.1.- oCO

eJru
011

--r 10 -Cfl-
0IiIe

or
r-ou to or

TENANT SCIENCE\o Cn-Ca oo -r oh

ndtr-Ea0 DniDOir/
002 flrCfl

uC\0 to -0i0rjecdooor1

COMMUNITY C\01I oXOICI C2

fl0fli00 op0 r3Ifle2
cro eric

iY102fl 01 oor

OPERATION OUTREACH -kOl 2JC -e
0fl J2 Jflfl up000crrCro 210

CT o\-fl -1 10 Ifl- C/CC Cl 201 /-0fl

-00 CO -OCI COO uflt

k_-I 011 01fl0C__ DroOl 010-01 tO /1iJ

-tOC/HC0 CO 00i CJ 0IC

oro



ii

1\4



14

ii



ALEXANDRIAS SOLID OPERATING

PERFORMANCE

tn

cnrtY QI r90n .vcHc

os Jeit1 9L mCV
3TL020 Dl

on pvc Jr Ho

rr koi cv rJ

ii orcng

ci Pc Hccrctn cH

Cnrnpon pc.c Jo ge
oi grif cvi 0.IUr Pc cPng

to /e

.Y flJJ2nJ ro possv-o Ho

IJIJoO J0J fl/ JL

cH cJi gr cc

nu ncJ PHfl Ho

0vec ooHL oH cocos
flu jjJfl 03/

ccc Jr r2n il cncJ tie

Pcrripnc1vt ch- .1
cucc/1t

ornol flC old

ouc iS so rio rococo

ALEXANDRIA HAS ESTABLISHED AN UNPARALLELED TRACK

RECORD sHiv 0c.nrsJ01Scfl1P flJrrcojr

STABLE OPERATING MARGINS30 me qi

ri crHnto Pe c-
0Noi3 Ps ci 3i1

.ro 0-t P.n-ct HLriSfl 2JrC

1coSJ 00 nrc OeflI

SECTOR LEADING OCCUPANCY 3.0 0ocfii riO

103 OC/-uo .3 Ofl0 1iooopecJofil

chcs 0r Ic OiuOrii lrPc 33 To

BEST-IN-CLASS SAME PROPERTY PERFORMANCE

cc ..ol 0u ri cpcH corn iC g-crcv

H- 3riO3 _3 conseut030Y 0Jr00

0cnnPH To Ifi I03 3ET no /03

POSITIVE LEASE RENEWALS/ eo3i Ci OCii 10

c3 art ri 33-H eco me oo omr ri
ririvri riroOri53 00-

LONG-TERM PERFORMANCE I.Jro Cr .o2 _flfl.flO .0

ooieic.rrinecari
030 3cr mL013/ -H

i/0vcPOOJrP 3/Ifl Ho
e.csHtto2i\o 0350 ttoecfvrrofii-.flCtr

33 rgo3r Th.k3.n 3333u no 353

MARKETTRANSFORMING LEASE STRUCTURE 05 i.1E

-flflI Jr 0tCri

cm orL UrieuIO criTh ncghcri-o

cm 3300 oH cice .1

HISTORICAL LEASING VOLUMES PLc-ri

o000ce -- fl 32 JO

-.Lcc r.0cc/eEee.fl5 cs .Ji

FAVORABLELEASETERMS/ cm
lc rrirJrr/2 oponi- mon --rp

rIot

-1



$1



2009 FINANCIALS



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Alexandria ReatEstate Equities Inc

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

CERTAIN INFORMATION AND STATEMENTS included in this Annual Report including without limitation statements containing

the words believes expects may will should seeks approximately intends plans estimates or an

ticipates or the negative of these words or similar words constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of Sec

tion 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Such

forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results

performance or achievements or industry results to be materially different from any future results performance or achievements

expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements Given these uncertainties prospective and current investors are cau

tioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements number of important factors could cause actual results

to differ materially from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements including but not limited to our fail

ure to obtain capital debt construction financing or equity or refinance debt maturities increased interest rates and operating

costs adverse economic or real estate developments in our markets our failure to successfully complete and lease our existing

space held for redevelopment and new properties acquired for that purpose and any properties undergoing development our

failure to successfully operate or lease acquired properties decreased rental rates or increased vacancy rates or failure to renew or

replace expiring leases defaults on or non-renewal of leases by tenants general and local economic conditions and other factors

described in our Annual Report on Form 1O-R for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 and our other reports that are publicly

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC We disclaim any obligation to update such factors or publicly an

nounce the result of any revisions to any of the forward-looking statements contained in this or any other document Readers of

this Annual Report should also read our reports that are publicly filed with the SEC for further discussion
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Alexandria ReatEstate Equities Inc

THE FOLLOWING TABLE should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing

elsewhere in this report Amounts for the years prior to 2009 presented in the table below include the retrospective impact of new

accounting literature adopted on January 2009 related to accounting for and disclosure of convertible debt noncontrolling

interests and participating securities Additionally certain amounts for the years prior to 2009 presented in the table below have

been reclassified to conform to the presentation of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December31 2009

VearEnded December31

Dollars in thousands except pershareamounts 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

OPERATING DATA

Totairevenue
480.140 451637 388339 294174 215129

Totalexpenses 354964 350.577 312373 228541 163350

Gain on early extinguishment of debt 11254

Incomefrom continuing operations 36430 101060 75966 65633 51779

lncomefromdiscontinuedoperationsnet 5218 19037 14014 10070 12288

Netincome 141648 120097 89980 75703 64067

Netincomeattributabletononcontrolling interests 7047 3799 3669 2287 634

Dividends on preferred stock 28357 24225 2020 6090 6090

Preferred stock redemption charge 2799

Net income attributable to unvested restricted stock awards 1270 1327 1075 873 540

Net income attributable to Alexandria Real Estate

Equities Inc.s common stockholders 104974 90746 70417 56453 46803

Earnings pershare attributable to Alexandria Real

Estate Equities Inc.s common stockholders basic

Contiriuingoperations 2.59 2.28 1.90 1.85 1.65

Discontinued operations net 0.13 0.59 0.47 0.40 0.58

Earningspersharebasic 2.72 2.87 2.37 2.25 2.23

EarningspershareattributabletoAlexandrja Real

Estate Equities Inc.s common stockholders diluted

Continuingoperatioris 2.59 2.27 1.90 1.84 1.63

Discontinued operations net 0.13 0.59 0.46 0.39 57

Earningspersharediluted 2.72 2.86 2.36 2.23 2.20

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding

Basic 38586909 31653829 29668231 25102200 20948915

Diluted 38.600069 31765055 29832013 25342048 21239080

Cash dividends declared pershare of common stock 1.85 3.18 3.04 2.86 2.72
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VearEnded December31

Dollars in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

BALANCE SHEET DATA ATYEAR END

Rentatproperties net 3383308 321 5723 3057294 2663088 1662905

Landhetdtortuturedevelopment 255025 109478 89621 63163 12615

Conetructioninprogress 1400795 1398895 1143314 596331 442636

Totalaesets 5457227 5132077 4641245 3617477 2362450

Totaldebt 2746946 2938108 2750648 2024866 1406666

Totalliabilitiee 3051148 3357014 3025502 2208348 $1512535

Redeemable noncontrolling interests 41441 33963 35342 20132 20115

Atesandria ReatEstate Equities Inc.s stockholders equity 2323408 1700010 1540219 1351652 829800

Noncontrotling interests 41230 41090 40182 37345

Totalequity 2364638 1741100 1580401 1388997 829800

RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EOUITIES INC.S COMMON

STOCKHOLDERS TO FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EOUITIES

INC.S COMMON STOCKHOLDERS

Net income attributable toAtesandria Real Estate

Equities Inc.s common stockholders 104974 90746 70417 56453 46803

Add

Depreciation and amortization 118508 108743 97335 74039 55416

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7047 3799 3669 2287 634

Net income attributable to unvested restricted stock awards 1270 1327 1075 873 540

Subtract

Sainonsalesotproperty 12627 120401 7976 159 136

FED attributable to noncontrolling interests 3843 4108 3733 1928 1668

FED attributable to unvested restricted stock awards 2694 2.596 1241 12006 11171

FF0 attributable to Atesandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

commonstockholders131 222635 177510 158369 129659 101518

OTHER DATA

Cash provided byoperating
activities 205950 255837 188031 125641 123970

Cash used in investing activities 409923 494933 1949253 961636 433645

Cash provided bytinancing activities 203440 302227 766304 835032 310428

Numberofpropertiesatyearend 156 159 166 158 132

Rentablesquareteetot properties atyearend 11759643 11769136 12259416 11338060 8922856

Cccupancyotpropertiesatyearend 89% 90% 88% 88% 88%

Occupancy otproperties atyearend escluding properties

undergoing redevelopmentand properties held torsale 94% 95% 94% 93% 93%

Ill lnclsdesdepreciatisn and amortization on ansetsheldtorsale rvtlvcted asdiscontinued speratisnstnrthe periods prinrtuwhen ouch ausetowereclannitued as held tornale

121 Gain nnnalenotprnpertyisclassitied in the connetidated statementont incnmeasincometrew discontinued operations net

131 United Staten generatlyaccepted accounting principles lGAAPl basisaccoenting tnr real estate assets utilizes hintorical contacceunting and annuwen real estate saloon diwnish

overtime loan ettortto overcome the ditterence between reatentatenaluen and hintoricalcont accounting tsr realentate assets the Board ot Governors ntthe NationatAnnociation

ut Peat Entate lnventwentTrentn lNABEITl established the weanurewenttoolut Funds trom Operations lFFOl Since its introduction FF0 han becowe widety used nnn-SMF

tinanciat meusure by realentate investwenttruntn lREITsl We believe that FF0 in hetptuttn inventors anon additional meunure utthe pertorwunce stan equity BElT We cowpute

FF0 in accorduece with standards entablinhed by the Board et Governors ot NARE1T in itsAprit 2002 White Paper the White Faperl and related iwptewentutinn guidance which

way ditter truw the wethudotogy tnr cutculating FF0 utiliend by other equity REITs and uccurdingty way nut be cnwparable to nach other REiTn The White Paper detinen FF0 us

net incnwe tons lcnwputed in accordance with GMPI euctuding gains br louses trow sales plan real estate related depreciation and amortization and utter udtuntwentn tur

unconsolidated partnerships and iointvnnturen White FF0 isa relevuntand widely unnd weunure ot operating pertormance tsr RE1Tn it nhnuld not be cnnnidered an an alternation

to net income determined in uccurdancn with GAAPI anon indication ot tinanciul pnrtnrwance or to cash ttown 1mm operating activities bdeterwinvd in accordance with SAAFI

an measure ut our liquidity nor in it indicative ot hinds available to lund our canh nnndn including nor ubilitytn wake dintributinnn For worn detailnd discussion ot FF0 sen

Manugnwentu OincunninnandAnalyninotFinuncialCnnditinn and Results ot Operations Fundn Prow Opnratinnn
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc

THE FOLLOWING OSGuSSION SHOULD BE READ in conjunction With our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing

elsewhere in this report Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties regarding events conditions and

financial trends that may affect our future plans of operation business strategy results of operations and financial position

number of important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those included within or contemplated by

such forward-looking statements including but not limited to those described below in this report We do not undertake any

responsibility to update any of these factors or to announce publicly any revisions to any of the forward-looking statements

contained in this or any other document whether as result of new information future events or otherwise

OVERVIEW

We are publicly traded REIT focused principally on science-driven cluster formation We are the leading provider of high-quality

environmentally sustainable real estate technical infrastructure services and capital to the broad and diverse life science industry

Client tenants include institutional universities and independent not-for-profit institutions pharmaceutical biotechnology

medical device product service and translational entities as well as government agencies Our operating platform is based on the

principle of clustering with assets and operations located in key life science markets

In 2009 we

Executed 142 leases for 1864000 rentable square feet

Reported occupancy at 94% as of December 312009

Entered into 15-year lease with an affiliate of Eli Lilly and Company as an anchor tenant at Alexandria CenterTM for

Life Science New York City

Leased 310000 rentable square feet of redevelopment and development space

Completed ground-up development of one property at Mission Bay San Francisco aggregating 102000 rentable

square feet pursuant to 15-year lease with Pfixer Inc

Reduced principal balances of secured notes payable by $267 million

Completed redevelopment of multiple spaces at 10 properties aggregating 227000 rentable square feet of

which approximately 72% was leased

Closed 10-year secured loan for $120 million

Sold four properties for approximately $21 million

Closed two follow-on common stock offerings with aggregate net proceeds of $488 million

Closed private offering of 8.00% unsecured convertible notes with net proceeds of $233 million

Repurchased in privately negotiated transactions approximately $75 million par value of our 3.70%

unsecured convertible notes

Received LEED Cold Certification for building in the San Diego market

2009 demonstrated the strength and durability of our core operations providing life science laboratory space to the broad

and diverse life science industry Our core operating results were relatively steady for the year ended December 31 2009 during

the continuing extraordinary and unprecedented worldwide economic financial banking and credit market crisis significant

worldwide economic recession and drastic decline in consumer confidence and the consumer-driven economy Financial

systems throughout the world have recently experienced significant periods of illiquidity with banks much less willing to lend

substantial amounts to other banks and borrowers

The economic financial and banking environment and consumer confidence have improved since the depth of the crisis in the

fourth quarter of 2008 and first quarter of 2009 Even with the recent improvements we remain cautious regarding the economic

financial and banking environment We intend to continue to focus on the completion of our existing active redevelopment

projects aggregating approximately 5751S2 rentable square feet and our existing active development projects aggregating
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approximately an additional 980000 rentable square feet Additionally we intend to continue with preconstruction activities

for certain land parcels for future ground-up/vertical aboveground development in order to preserve and create value for these

projects These important preconstruction activities add significant value to our land for future ground-up development and are

required for the ultimate vertical construction of the buildings We also intend to be very careful and prudent with any future

decisions to add new projects to our active ground-up/vertical developments Future ground-up/vertical development projects

will
likely require significant pre-leasing from high-quality and/or credit entities We also intend to continue to reduce debt as

percentage of our overall capital structure over multi-year period During this period we may also extend and/or refinance

certain debt maturities We expect the source of funds for construction activities and repayment of outstanding debt to be provided

over several years by opportunistic sales of real estate joint ventures cash flows from operations new secured or unsecured debt

and the issuance of additional equity securities as appropriate As of December 312009 we had identified three assets as held

for sale which have been classified in discontinued operations

As of December 31 2009 we had 156 properties containing approximately 11.8 million rentable square feet of life science

laboratory space including approximately 575152 rentable square feet of space undergoing permanent change in use to life

science laboratory space through redevelopment including the conversion of single-tenancy space to multi-tenancy spaces or

multi-tenancy spaces to single-tenancy space As of that date our properties were approximately 94.1 leased excluding spaces

at properties undergoing redevelopment In addition as of December 31 2009 our asset base contained properties undergoing

ground-up development approximating 980000 rentable square feet

The following table is summary of our properties as of December 31 2009 dollars in thousands

Nnmberet Rentabte Square Feet Annuatced Occupancy

Markets Prneertiee Operating Redevelopment Tetal Base Rent Percentage
anal

catiternia San Oiego
32 549t44 11 6431 1665475 41454 89.2%

catifernia San Francisco Bay 18 1580943 580943 53949 95.4

Eastern Mannachasettn 36 3064693 245308 3310001 10973 94.3

NewJerney/Sabarban Phitadetphia
459904 459904 9601 ao.o

Seatheant 13 735373 21191 756564 16364 93.7

Suburban Wanhingten D.C 30 2255381 192222 2447603 47120 94.3

WashingtonSeattle 12 975121 975121 30044 99.1

InternationalCanada 342394 342394 8158 100.0

Prepertien Continuing Operations
153 10962853 575152 11538005 317663 94.1%

Prepertien Discontinued Operatiens
221638 221638

Preperties Total 156 11184491 575152 11759643

ii annualized bane rent means the annualized tined bane rental amnant in ettect an nt Oecember 312089 lanint rental revenue cnmpated en strarght-line basis in accerdance

mith 0API Amnsntn enclade npacen at prnpertien tetalint apprenimately 575152 rentable square teet andergeing permanent chante in ane te lite nciencn laberatary space

threath redevetepment

21 Including npacen andergeing permanent change inane tn tite ncience tabsratarynpace through redevelopment eccapancyan
et December3t 2009man apprnnimately09.4%

Our primary sources of revenue are rental income and tenant recoveries consisting of reimbursement of real estate taxes

insurance utilities repairs and maintenance and other operating expenses from certaintenants from leases of our properties The

comparability of financial data from period to period is affected by the timing of our property development redevelopment and

acquisition activities Of the 156 properties owned as of December 312009 two were acquired in 2008 the 2008 Properties 15

in 2007 and 119 prior to 2007 In addition we completed the development of one property in 2009 one property in 2007 together

with the 15 properties acquired in 2007 the 2007 Properties and 18 properties prior to 2007 As result of these development

and acquisition activities as well as our ongoing redevelopment and leasing activities there have been significant increases in

total revenues and expenses including significant increases in total revenues and expenses for 2009 as compared to 2008 as well

as 2008 as compared to 2007 Our operating expenses generally consist of real estate taxes insurance utilities common area and

other operating expenses
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LEASIG As of December 31 2009 approximately 88% of our leases on rentable square footage basis were triple net leases

requiring tenants to pay substantially all real estate taxes insurance common area and other operating expenses including

increases thereto In addition approximately 8% of our leases on rentable square footage basis required the tenants to pay

majority of operating expenses Additionally approximately 91 of our leases on rentable square footage basis provided for

the recapture of certain capital expenditures and approximately 93 of our leases on rentable square footage basis contained

effective annual rent escalations that were either fixed or indexed based on the consumer price index or another index

The following table summarizes information with respect to lease expirations at our properties as of December31 2009

Percentage of Annualized Base Rent

Rentable Square Aggregate of Expiring Leases

Yearof Lease Numberof Footageof TotatRentable

Expiration Leases Expiring Expiring Leases Square Feet squarefoot

2010 7811 1003316111 8.7% 24.31

2011 79 1747901 15.1 28.02

2012 66 1366663 11.8 32.82

2013 49 953388 8.3 29.92

2014 49 1105663 9.6 28.31

2015 32 664559 5.8 26.55

2016 18 1037632 9.0 31.65

2017 13 684973 5.9 34.63

2018 11 737172 6.4 44.68

2019 254703 2.2 34.64

Iii Excftdesthree rnsnth-to-rnonth leasesfsrappr-oxirlateiy2000 rentablesquarefeet

Our revenues are derived primarily from rental payments and reimbursement of operating expenses under our leases If

tenant experiences downturn in its business or other types of financial distress it may be unable to make timely payments

under its lease Also if tenants decide not to renew their leases or terminate early we may not be able to re-lease the space Even

if tenants decide to renew or lease space the terms of renewals or new leases including the cost of any tenant improvements

concessions and lease commissions may be less favorable to us than current lease terms Consequently we could lose the cash

flow from the affected properties which could negatively impact our business We may have to divert cash flows generated by

other properties to meet our mortgage payments if any or to pay other expenses related to owning the affected properties
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VALUE-ADDED ACTI VITI ES Construction inprogress includes the following value-added activities as of December 312009 dollars

in thousands

Square

FeetVatue-Added Activities Amount

Redevetopmentprojects 135521 575152

Devetopment prolects 407084 980000

Preconstruction proiects 61 7964 5229000

New markets and other projects 240226 1057000

Total $1400795 7.841152

Amounts are classified as construction in progress as required under GAAP while construction activities are ongoing to bring

the asset to its intended use When construction activities cease the asset is transferred out of construction in progress and

classified as rental properties net or land held for future development

key component of our business model is our value-added redevelopment and development programs These programs are

focused on providing high-quality generic life science laboratory space that is reusable by various life science industry tenants

Upon completion each value-added project is expected to generate significant revenues and cash flows Our redevelopment

and development projects are generally in locations highly desirable by life science entities which we believe results in higher

occupancy levels longer lease terms and higher rental income and returns Redevelopment projects consist of the permanent

change in use of office warehouse and shell space into generic life science laboratory space including the conversion of single-

tenancy space to multi-tenancy spaces or multi-tenancy spaces to single-tenancy space Our investment inredevelopment projects

generally ranges from $75 to $150 per square foot depending on the nature of the existing building improvements Development

projects consist of the ground-up development of generic life science laboratory facilities We also have certain significant value-

added projects undergoing important and substantial preconstruction activities to bring these assets to their intended use These

critical activities add significant value for future ground-up development and are required for the ultimate vertical construction

of buildings Ultimately these land parcels will provide valuable opportunities for new ground-up construction projects The

projects will provide high-quality facilities for the life science industry and will generate significant revenues and cash flows for

the Company

component of our business model also includes ground-up development projects in new markets and other unique projects

We have two development parcels in China One development parcel is located in South China where two-building project

aggregating approximately 275000 rentable square feet is under construction The second development parcel is located in North

China where two-building project aggregating approximately 272000 rentable square feet is under construction Additional

projects include construction related to site work plaza park and underground parking at Alexandria CenterTM for Life Science

New York City unique state-of-the-art urban science park in the city and in the adjoining future building approximating 410000

rentable square feet

Our success with our redevelopment development and preconstruction projects depends on many risks that may adversely

affect our business including those associated with the following

negative worldwide economic financial and banking conditions

worldwide economic recession and lack of confidence

financing availability

national local and worldwide economic conditions

delays in construction

budget overruns

lack of availability and/or increasing costs of materials

commodity pricing of building materials and supplies

changes in the life sciences financial and banking industries

volatility
in interest rates

labor availability and/or strikes

uncertainty of leasing
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timing of the commencement of rental payments

changes in local submarket conditions

delays or denials of entitlements or permits and

other property development uncertainties

In addition redevelopment development and preconstruction activities regardless of whether they are ultimately successful

typically require substantial portion of management time and attention This may distract management from focusing on other

operational activities If we are unable to complete redevelopment development and preconstruction projects successfully our

business may be adversely affected

CRITICALACCOUNTINO POLICIES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial

statements which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP Our significant accounting policies are described in the notes

to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this report The preparation of these financial statements in

conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

liabilities revenues and expenses We base these estimates judgments and assumptions on historical experience and on various

other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances Changes in estimates could affect our financial position

and specific items in our results of operations that are used by our stockholders potential investors industry analysts and lenders

in their evaluation of our performance Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions

REIT COMPLIANCE We have elected to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code Qualification as REIT involves the

application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue Code to our operations and financial results

and the determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control We believe that our current

organization and method of operation comply with the rules and regulations promulgated under the Internal Revenue Code to

enable us to qualify and continue to qualify as REIT However it is possible that we have been organized or have operated in

manner that would not allow us to qualify as REIT or that our future operations could cause us to fail to qualify

If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year then we will be required to pay federal income tax including any applicable

alternative minimum tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates If we lose our REIT status then our net earnings

available for investment or distribution to our stockholders will be significantly reduced for each of the years involved and we will

no longer be required to make distributions to our stockholders

RENTAL PROPERTIES NET LAND HELD FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION IN PROORESS In December 2007 the

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued new accounting literature with respect to business combinations We

prospectively adopted the new guidance on January 2009 In accordance with the new guidance we recognize assets acquired

including the intangible value to above- or below-market teases acquired in-place leases tenant relationships and other

intangible assets or liabilities liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interests in an acquired entity at their fair values as of

the acquisition date The value of tangible assets acquired is based upon our estimation of value on an as if vacant basis The

value of acquired in-place leases includes the estimated carrying costs during the hypothetical lease-up period and other costs

that would have been incurred to execute similar leases considering market conditions at the acquisition date of the acquired

in-place lease We assess the fair values of tangible and intangible assets based on numerous factors including estimated cash

flow projections that utilize appropriate discount capitalization rates and available market information Estimates of future cash

flows are based on number of factors including the historical operating results known trends and market/economic conditions

that may affect the property We also recognize the fair values of assets acquired the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling

interests in acquisitions of less than 100% interest when the acquisition constitutes change in control of the acquired entity

In addition acquisition-related costs and restructuring costs are expensed as incurred Prior to the adoption of the new guidance

related to business combinations the purchase price was allocated based npon relative fair values and acquisition-related costs

on successful acquisitions were capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets acquired

The values allocated to land improvements buildings building improvements tenant improvements and equipment are

depreciated on straight-line basis using an estimated life of 20 years for land improvements the shorter of the term of the

respective ground lease or 40 years for buildings and building improvements the respective lease term for tenant improvements

and the estimated useful life for equipment The values of acquired above- and below-market leases are amortized over the lives

3i 2iS9ANNUALREPORT



of the related leases and recorded as either an increase for below-market leases or decrease for above-market leases to

rental income The values of acquired in-place leases are classified as leasing costs included in other assets in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets and amortized over the remaining terms of the related leases

Rental properties land held for future development construction in progress and intangibles are individually evaluated

for impairment when conditions exist that may indicate that it is probable that the sum of expected future undiscounted cash

flows is less than the carrying amount Impairment indicators for our rental properties land held for future development and

construction in progress are assessed by project and include but are not limited to significant fluctuations in estimated net

operating income occupancy changes construction costs estimated completion dates rental rates and other market factors

We assess the expected undiscounted cash flows based upon numerous factors including but not limited to construction costs

available market information historical operating results known trends and market/economic conditions that may affect the

property and our assumptions about the use of the asset including if necessary probability-weighted approach if multiple

outcomes are under consideration Upon determination that an impairment has occurred write-down is recorded to reduce the

carrying amount to its estimated fair value

CAPITALIZATION OF COSTS We are required to capitalize direct construction and development costs including preconstruction

costs interest property taxes insurance and other costs directly related and essential to the acquisition development

redevelopment or construction of project Capitalization of construction development and redevelopment costs is required

while activities are ongoing to prepare an asset for its intended use Costs incurred after project is substantially complete and

ready for its intended use are expensed as incurred Should development redevelopment or construction activity cease interest

property taxes insurance and certain other costs would no longer be eligible for capitalization and would be expensed as

incurred Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred

We also capitalize costs directly related and essential to our leasing activities These costs are amortizedon straight-line basis

over the terms of the related leases Costs related to unsuccessful leasing opportunities are expensed

ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS We hold equity investments in certain publicly traded companies and privately held entities

primarily involved in the life science industry All of our investments in publicly traded companies are considered available

for sale and are recorded at fair value Fair value has been determined based upon the closing price as of each balance sheet

date with unrealized gains and losses shown as separate component of total equity The classification of each investment is

determined at the time each investment is made and such determination is reevaluated at each balance sheet date The cost of

each investment sold is determined by the specific identification method with net realized gains included in other income

Investments in privately held entities are generally accounted for under the cost method when our interest in the entity is so

minor that we have virtually no influence over such entitys operating and financial policies Certain investments in privately held

entities are accounted for under the equity method when our interest in the entity is not deemed so minor that we have virtually

no influence over such entitys operating and financial policies Under the equity method of accounting we record our investment

initially at cost and adjust the carrying amount of the investment to recognize our share of the earnings or losses of the investee

subsequent to the date of our investment Additionally we limit our ownership percentage in the voting stock of each individual

entity to less than 10%

Individual investments are evaluated for impairment when changes in conditions may indicate an impairment exists The

factors that we consider in making these assessments include but are not limited to market prices market conditions available

financing prospects for favorable or unfavorable clinical trial results new product initiatives and new collaborative agreements

If there are no identified events or changes in circumstances that would have an adverse effect on our cost method investments

we do not estimate its fair value For all of our investments if decline in the fair value of an investment below the carrying value

is determined to be other-than-temporary such investment is written down to its estimated fair value with non-cash charge to

current earnings We use significant other observable inputs and significant unobservable inputs to determine the fair value

of privately held entities
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INTEREST RATE HEDGE AGREEMENTS We are exposed to certain risks arising from both our business operations and economic

conditions We principally manage our exposures to wide variety of business and operational risks through management of

our core business activities We manage economic risks including interest rate liquidity and credit risk primarily by managing

the amount sources duration of our debt funding and the use of interest rate hedge agreements Specifically we enter into

interest rate hedge agreements to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the payment of future

known and uncertain cash amounts the value of which are determined by interest rates Our interest rate hedge agreements are

used to manage differences in the amount timing and duration of our known or expected cash payments principally related to

our borrowings based on the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR We do not use derivatives for trading or speculative

purposes and currently all of our derivatives are designated as hedges Our objectives in using interest rate hedge agreements are

to add
stability to interest expense and to manage our exposure to interest rate movements in accordance with our interest rate risk

management strategy Interest rate swap agreements designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable rate amounts

from counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed rate payments over the life of the interest rate swap agreements

without exchange of the underlying notional amount Interest rate cap agreements designated as cash flow hedges involve the

receipt of variable rate amounts from counterparty if interest rates rise above the strike rate on the contract in exchange for an

up-front premium

We record our interest rate hedge agreements in the consolidated balance sheets at their estimated fair values with an offsetting

adjustment reflected as unrealized gains/losses in accumulated other comprehensive income in total equity The accounting for

changes in fair value i.e gains or losses of derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies

as part of hedging relationship and further on the type of hedging relationship For those derivative instruments that are

designated and qualify as hedging instruments company must designate the hedging instrument based upon the exposure

being hedged as fair value hedge cash flow hedge or hedge of net investment in foreign operation Our interest rate hedge

agreements are considered cash flow hedges as they are designated and qualify as hedges of the exposure to variability in expected

future cash flows Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging

instrument with the recognition of the changes in the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in cash flow hedge

All of our interest rate hedge agreements meet the criteria to be deemed highly effective in reducing our exposure to variable

interest rates We formally document all relationships between interest rate hedge agreements and hedged items including the

method for evaluating effectiveness and the risk strategy We make an assessment at the inception of each interest rate hedge

agreement and on an ongoing basis to determine whether these instruments are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash

flows associated with the hedged items The ineffective portion of each interest rate hedge agreement is immediately recognized

in earnings While we intend to continue to meet the conditions for such hedge accounting if hedges did not qualify as highly

effective the changes in the fair values of the derivatives used as hedges would be reflected in earnings

The fair values of our interest rate hedge agreements are determined using widely accepted valuation techniques including

discounted cash flow analyses on the expected cash flows of each derivative These analyses reflect the contractual terms of the

derivatives including the period to maturity and use observable market-based inputs including interest rate curves and implied

vnlatilities also referred to as significant other observable inputs The fair values of our interest rate swap agreements are

determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash payments and the discounted

expected variable cash receipts The variable cash receipts are based on an expectation of future interest rates forward curves

derived from observable market interest rate curves The fair value of our interest rate cap agreement is determined using the

market standard methodology of discounting the future expected cash receipts that would occur if variable interest rates rise

above the strike rate of the interest rate cap agreement The variable interest rate used in the calculation of projected receipts

on the interest rate cap agreement is based on an expectation of future interest rates derived from observable market interest

rate curves and volatilities The fair value calculation also includes an amount for risk of non-performance using significant

unobservable inputs such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default which we have determined

to be insignificant to the overall fair value of our interest rate hedge agreements In adjusting the fair value of our interest rate

hedge agreements for the risk of non-performance we have considered any applicable credit enhancements such as collateral

postings thresholds mutual puts and guarantees These methods of assessing fair value result in general approximation of

value and such value may never be realized
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RECOGNITION OF RENTAL INCOME AND TENANT RECOVERIES Rental income from leases with scheduled rent increases free rent

incentives or other rent adjustments is recognized on straight-line basis over the respective lease terms We include amounts

currently recognized as income and expected to be received in later years in deferred rent in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets Amounts received currently but recognized as income in future years are included as unearned rent in accounts

payable accrued expenses and tenant security deposits in our consolidated balance sheets We commence recognition of rental

income at the date the property is ready for its intended use and the tenant takes possession of or controls the physical use ot

the property

Tenant recoveries related to reimbursement of real estate taxes insurance utilities repairs and maintenance and other

operating expenses are recognized as revenue in the period the applicable expenses are incurred

If necessary we maintain an allowance for estimated losses that may result from the inability of our tenants to make payments

required under the terms of the lease If tenant fails to make contractual payments beyond any allowance we may recognize

additional bad debt expense in future periods equal to the amount of unpaid rent and unrealized deferred rent As of December 3t

2009 and 2008 we had no allowance for doubtful accounts

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS property is classified as held for sale when all of the following criteria for plan of sale have

been met management having the authority to approve the action commits to plan to sell the property the property is

available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary an active program to

locate buyer and other actions required to complete the plan to sell have been initiated the sale of the property is probable

and is expected to be completed within one year the property is being actively marketed for sale at price that is reasonable

in relation to its current fair value and actions necessary to complete the plan of sale indicate that it is unlikely that significant

changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn When all of these criteria have been met the property is

classified as held for sale its operations including any interest expense directly attributable to it are classified as discontinued

operations in our consolidated statements of income and amounts for all prior periods presented are reclassified from continuing

operations to discontinued operations loss is recognized for any initial adjustment of the assets carrying amount to fair value

less costs to sell in the period the asset qualifies as held for sale Depreciation of assets ceases upon designation of property as

held for sale

IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS InJanuary2OlO theFASBissuedanAccountingStandardUpdate ASU
to address implementation issues associated with the accounting for decreases in the ownership of subsidiary The new guidance

clarified the scope of the entities covered by the guidance related to accounting for decreases in the ownership of subsidiary

and specifically excluded in-substance real estate or conveyances of oil and gas mineral rights from the scope Additionally the

new guidance expands the disclosures required for business combination achieved in stages and deconsolidation of business

or nonprofit activity The new guidance became effective for interim and annual periods ending on or after December 3t 2009

and must be applied on retrospective basis to the first period that an entity adopted the new guidance related to noncontrolling

interests The adoption of this new guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements

In January 2010 the FASB issued an ASU to address diversity in practice related to the accounting for distribution to

shareholders that offers them the ability to elect to receive their entire distribution in cash or shares of equivalent value with

potential limitation on the total amount of cash that shareholders can elect to receive in the aggregate The new guidance clarifies

that the stock portion of distribution to shareholders that allows them to elect to receive cash or shares with potential limitation

on the total amount of cash that all shareholders can elect to receive in the aggregate is considered share issuance that is reflected

in earnings per share prospectively as opposed to stock dividend that is retroactively applied by restating shares outstanding and

earnings per share for all periods presented The new guidance became effective for interim and annual periods ending on or after

December 312009 and must be applied on retrospective basis The adoption of this new guidance did not have an impact on our

consolidated financial statements

In June 2009 the FASB established the FASB Accounting Standards Codification the Codification as the source of

authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of

financial statements in conformity with GAAP Rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority of federal securities

laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants All guidance contained in the Codification carries an equal level

of authority The Codification became effective for interim or annual financial periods ending after September tS 2009 The

adoption of the Codification did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements
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In June 2009 the FASB issued new accnunting literature with respect to the consolidation of variable interest entities VIEs
The new guidance impacts the consolidation guidance applicable to VIEs and among other things requires qualitative rather

than quantitative analysis to determine the primary beneficiary of VIE continuous assessments of whether company is the

primary beneficiary of VIE and enhanced disclosures about companys involvement with VIE The new guidance applies to

our fiscal year beginning on January 2010 and early adoption is prohibited We are currently evaluating the impact of the new

guidance on our consolidated financial statements

In May 2009 the FASE issued new accounting literature with respect to subsequent events The new guidance among other

things clarifies accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are

issued or available to be issued We adopted the new guidance effective April 12009 and the adoption did not have an impact on

our consolidated financial statements

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

COMPARISON OF THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 20D9 TO THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 21308 Rental revenues increased by

$25.1 million or 7% to $366.2 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $341.1 million for the year ended

December31 2008 The increase resulted fromrental revenue from properties placed in service or redeveloped during the periods

after January 2008 and increases in rental rates related to renewed and/or releasable space leased Additionally in 2009 and

2008 we recognized additional rental income aggregating $1 8.5 million and $11.3 million respectively primarily related to

modification of lease for property in South San Francisco California

Tenant recoveries increased by $2.8 million or 3% to $102.1 million for the year ended December 312009 compared to $99.4

million for the year ended December 31 2008 The increase resulted primarily from properties placed in service or redeveloped

during the periods after January 2008 As of December 31 2009 and 2008 approximately 88% and 89% respectively of our

leases on rentable square footage basis were triple net leases requiring tenants to pay substantially all real estate taxes

insurance common area and other operating expenses including increases thereto

Other income for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 of $11.8 million and $11.2 million respectively represents

construction management fees interest investment income and storage income Other income for the year ended December31

2009 also includes $7.2 million cash payment related to real estate acquired in November 2007 Excluding this cash payment

the decrease in other income is primarily due to decreases in investment income for the year ended December 31 2009 as

compared to the year ended December31 2008

Rental operating expenses increased by $8.5 million or 8% to $120.5 million for the year ended December 312009 compared

to $112.0 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The increase resulted primarily from increases in rental operating

expenses primarily payroll property taxes and insurance from properties placed in service or redeveloped during the periods

after January 2008 The majority of the increase in rental operating expenses was recoverable from our tenants

General and administrative expenses increased by $1.5 million or 4% to $36.3 million for the year ended December 312009

compared to $34.8 million for the year ended December31 2008 As percentage of total revenues general and administrative

expenses for 2009 remained consistent with 2008 at approximately 8%

Interest expense decreased by $2.8 million or 3% to $81.3 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to

$84.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The decrease resulted from decrease in LIBOR rates and decrease in the

outstanding balance on our unsecured line of credit partially offset by the issuance of our 8% unsecured convertible notes The

weighted average interest rate on our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan including the impact of our interest rate

hedge agreements decreased from approximately 4.30% as of December 31 2008 to approximately 4.10% as of December 31

2009 We have entered into certain interest rate hedge agreements to hedge portion of our exposure to variable interest rates

primarily associated with our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan see Liquidity and Capital Resources Interest

Rate Hedge Agreements

Depreciation and amortization increased by $10.5 million or 10% to $116.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009

compared to $106.4 million for the year ended December 312008 The increase resulted primarily from depreciation associated

with the improvements and properties placed in service or redeveloped during the periods after January 2008

During 2009 we recognized gain on early extinguishment of debt of approximately $11.3 million related to the repurchase in

privately negotiated transactions of approximately $75 million par value of certain of our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes

During 2008 we recognized aggregate non-cash impairment charges of $13.3 million associated with other-than-temporary

declines in the value of certain investments below their carrying value
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Income from discontioued operations net of approximately $5.2 million for the year ended December 31 2009 reflects the

results ot operations of three properties that were classified as held for sale as of December 31 2009 and four properties

sold during 2009 In connection with the properties sold in 2009 we recorded gain of approximately $2.6 million Income

from discontinued operations net of approximately $19.0 million for the year ended December 31 2008 reflects the results of

operations of three properties that were classified as held for sale as of December 31 2009 four properties sold during 2009
and eight properties sold during 2008 In connection with the properties sold in 2008 we recorded gain of approximately $20.4

million We also recorded non-cash impairment charge of $4.7 million in March 2008 related to an industrial building located in

suburban submarket south of Boston and an office building located in the San Diego market which has been included in income
from discontinued operations net These properties were sold later in 2008

COMPARISON OF THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2008 TO THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2007 Rental revenues increased by
$47.6 million or 16% to $341.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to $293.4 million for the year ended

December 31 2007 The increase resulted from rental revenue from properties acquired placed in service or redeveloped during

the periods after January 2007 and increases in rental rates related to renewed and/or re-leasable space leased Additionally

during the year ended December31 2008 we recognized additional rental income aggregating $11.3 million primarily related to

modification of lease for property in South San Francisco California

Tenant recoveries increased by $19.1 million or 24% to $99.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to

$80.2 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The increase resulted primarily from properties acquired placed in service

or redeveloped during the periods after January 2007 As of December 31 2008 and 2007 approximately 89% and 88%
respectively of our leases on rentable square footage basis were triple net leases requiring tenants to pay substantially all real

estate taxes insurance common area and other operating expenses including increases thereto

Other income for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 of $11.2 million and $14.7 million respectively represents

construction management fees interest investment income and storage income As percentage of total revenues other income

for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 remained relatively consistent at approximately 2% to 4% of total revenues

Rental operating expenses increased by $17.1 million or 18% to $112.0 million forthe year ended December 312008 compared
to $94.9 million for the year ended December31 2007 The increase resulted primarily from increases in rental operating expenses

primarily property taxes and utilities from properties acquired placed in service or redeveloped during the periods after

January 2007 The majority of the increase in rental operating expenses was recoverable from our tenants

General and administrative expenses increased by $2.5 million or 8% to $34.8 million for the year ended December31 2008

compared to $32.3 million for the year ended December 312007 primarily due to the growth in both the depth and breadth of our

operations in multiple markets including internationally As percentage of total revenues general and administrative expenses
for the year ended December31 2008 remained consistent with the year ended December31 2007 at approximately 8%

Interest expense decreased by $8.2 million or 9% to $84.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to $92.3

million for the year ended December 31 2007 The decrease resulted primarily from decrease in outstanding borrowings on our

unsecured line of credit due to the issuance of 10.0 million shares of our 7.00% series cumulative convertible preferred stock

Series Convertible Preferred Stock in March and April 2008 Additionally the decrease resulted from decrease in LIBOR

rates These decreases were partially offset by increases in indebtedness on our unsecured line of credit These borrowings were
utilized to finance the development redevelopment and acquisition of the 2007 Properties and 2008 Properties The weighted

average interest rate on our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan including the impact of our interest rate hedge
agreements decreased from approximately 5.85% as of December 31 200710 approximately 4.30% as of December 31 2008

We have entered into certain interest rate hedge agreements to hedge portion of our exposure to variable interest rates primarily

associated with our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan see Liquidity and Capital Resources Interest Rate

Hedge Agreements

Depreciation and amortization increased by $13.S million or 15% to $106.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008

compared to $92.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The increase resulted primarily from depreciation associated

with the improvements and properties acquired placed in service or redeveloped during the period after January 2007

During 2008 we recognized aggregate non-cash impairment charges of $13.3 million associated with other-than-temporary

declines in the value of certain investments below their carrying value

Income from discontinued operations net of $19.0 million for the year ended December 31 2008 reflects the results of

operations of three properties that were classified as held for sale as of December 31 2009 four properties sold in 2009 and

eighl properties sold during 2008 In connection with the properties sold in 2008 we recorded gain of approximately $20.4
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million We also recorded non-cash impairment charge of $4.7 million in March 2008 related to ao industrial building located in

suburban submarket south of Boston and an office building located in the San Diego market that has been included in income

from discontinued operations net These properties were sold later in 2008 Income from discontinued operations net of $14.0

million for the year ended December 31 2007 reflects the results of operations of three properties that were classified as held for

sale as of December31 2009 four properties sold in 2009 eight properties sold during 2008 and four properties and four land

parcels sold during 2007 In connection with the properties sold during the year ended December 31 2007 we recorded gain of

approximately $8.0 million

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

OVERVIEW We expect to continue meeting our short-term liquidity and capital requirements generally through our working capital

and net cash provided by operating activities We believe that the net cash provided by operating activities will continue to be

sufficient to enable us to make the distributions necessary to continue qualifying as REIT We also believe that net cash provided

by operating activities will be sufficient to fund recurring non-revenue-enhancing capital expenditures tenant improvements

and leasing commissions

We expect to meet certain long-term liquidity requirements such as for property development redevelopment other

construction projects scheduled debt maturities and non-recurring capital improvements through net cash provided by

operating activities periodic asset sales and long-term secured and unsecured indebtedness including borrowings under the

unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan and the issuance of additional debt and/or equity securities

Notwithstanding our expectations financial markets have recently experienced unusual volatility and uncertainty While this

condition had occurred initially within the subprime mortgage lending sector of the credit market financial systems throughout

the world have recently experienced significant periods of illiquidity
with banks much less willing to lend substantial amounts to

other banks and borrowers Consequently there is greater uncertainty regarding our ability to access the credit markets in order

to attract financing or capital on reasonable terms or on any terms Our ability to finance our development and redevelopment

projects and pending or new acquisitions as well as our ability to refinance debt maturities could be adversely affected by our

inability to secure capital on reasonable terms if at all

The current economic financial and banking environment worldwide economic recession and lack of consumer confidence

have improved since the fourth quarter of 2008 and first quarter of 2009 Even with the recent improvements we remain cautious

over the economic financial and banking environment We intend to continue to focus on the completion of our existing active

redevelopment projects aggregating approximately 575152 rentable square feet and our existing active development projects

aggregating an additional approximately 980000 rentable square feet Additionally we intend to continue with preconstructiOn

activities for certain land parcels for future ground-up/vertical aboveground development in order to preserve and create value

for these projects These important preconstruction activities add significant value to our land for future ground-up development

and are required for the ultimate vertical construction of the buildings We also intend to be very careful and prudent with any

future decisions to add new projects to our active ground-up/vertical developments Future ground-up/vertical development

projects will likely require significant pre-leasing from high-quality and/or credit entities We also intend to continue to reduce

debt as percentage of our overall capital structure over multi-year period During this period we may also extend and/or

refinance certain debt maturities We expect the source of funds for construction activities and repayment of outstanding debt

to be provided over several years by cash flows from operations opportunistic sales of real estate joint ventures new secured or

unsecured debt and the issuance of additional equity securities as appropriate As of December31 2009 we had identified three

assets as held for sale that have been classified in discontinued operations

As further discussed below our principal liquidity needs are to fund the following

normal recurring expenses

current development and redevelopment costs

capital expenditures including tenant improvements and leasing costs

principal and interest payments due under our debt obligations inctuding balloon payments of principal and

dividend distributions in order to maintain our REIT qualification under the Internal Revenue Code

We believe that our sources of capital for our principal liquidity needs will be satisfied by the following

cash on hand of approximately $70.6 million as of December 312009

restricted cash of approximately $24.1 million as of December 31 2009 to fund certain construction costs

cash flows generated by operating activities for the year ended December31 2009 we generated approximately

$206.0 million of cash flows from operating activities
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availability under our $1.9 billion unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan approximately $1.2 billion

outstanding as of December 312009

cash proceeds from new secured or unsecured financings

cash proceeds generated from potential asset sales including three properties that were classified as held for sale

as of December 31 2009

cash proceeds from the issuance of common or preferred equity or debt securities and

cash proceeds from joint ventures

PRINCIPAL LIQUIDITY NEEDS

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS Contractual obligations as of December 31 2009 consisted of the following in

thousands

Payments by Period

Total 2010 2011-2012 2013-2014 Thereatter

Secured notes payableN
937017 35982 176191 308096 416748

Unsecured line of credit21 476000 476000

Unsecured term loan 21 750000 750000

Unsecured convertible notes 624700 384700 240000

Estimated interest paynents
598252 20955 93638 11 3605 70054

Ground tease obligations
611440 6558 15831 17079 571972

Otherobtigations
3288 1357 1931

Total $4000697 $164852 $1998291 678780 $1158774

Ill aumeswe esercise sursole rightto eotend the maturilydatessta secured note yayable stapprooimately$2t.t
million trom January t2011 toJassary 2tt2 and secured note

payablestapprseimalely$3e.4milliontromJanUary2.2tt2
tuAyrilu20t3.Am000tninctUde nencontrullieg interentsshareutscheduled princiyalmaturitiesutappruuimatety$39.3

illionstwhichapprssimatety$17.6miltionand$2t.tmilt1onmaturein2tt3a0d2St4
respectisely.Atso.amuustsaresetotunamurti2eddi5c55nt5otaPPr50imat0tv$t

million

121 Assumeswe esercise our sub rightto eutend the maturitydate ot our unsecured line otcredit trom October 20t tIn Octeber20l and ourunnecured term luau trum Octuber2tl to

October2tt2

Secured notes payable as of December 31 2009 consisted of 26 notes secured by 57 properties and one land development

parcel Our secured notes payable require monthly payments of principal and interest and had weighted average interest rates of

approximately 5.83 at December 31 2009 Noncontrolling interests share of secured notes payable aggregated approximately

$39.3 million as of December 31 2009 The total book values of rental properties net land held for future development and

construction in progress securing debt were approximately $1.4 billion at December 312009 At December 312009 our secured

notes payable were comprised of approximately $831.5 million and $105.5 million of fixed and variable rate debt respectively

Our unsecured line of credit matures in October 2010 and may be extended at our sole option for an additional one-year period

to October2011 Our unsecured term loan matures in October 2011 and maybe extended at our sole option for an additional one-

year period to October 2012

In April2009 we completed private offering of $240 million unsecured convertible notes with coupon of 8.00% the 8.00%

Unsecured Convertible Notes In January 2007 we completed private offering of $460 million unsecured convertible notes

with coupon of 3.70% the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes In April 2009 we repurchased in privately negotiated

transactions approximately $75 million par value of certain of our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes See additional

information under Note to our consolidated financial statements regarding our ability to redeem the notes the ability of the

holders to require us to repurchase the notes and circumstances under which the holders may convert the notes

Estimated interest payments on our fixed rate debt and hedged variable rate debt were calculated based upon contractual

interest rates including the impact of interest rate swap agreements interest payment dates and scheduled maturity dates

As of December 31 2009 approximately 83% of our debt was fixed rate debt or variable rate debt subject to interest rate hedge

agreements See additional information regarding our interest rate hedge agreements under Liquidity and Capital Resources

Interest Rate Hedge Agreements The remaining 17% of our debt is unhedged variable rate debt based primarily on LIBOR

Interest payments on our unhedged variable rate debt have been excluded from the table above because we cannot reasonably

determine the future interest obligations on variable rate debt as we cannot predict the applicable variable interest rates in the

future See additional information regarding our debt under Notes and to our consolidated financial statements
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Ground lease obligations as of December 312009 included leases for 19 of our properties and three land development parcels

These lease obligations have remaining lease terms from 23 to 97 years excluding extension options

In addition as of December 312009 remaining aggregate costs under contracts for the construction of properties undergoing

development redevelopment and life science laboratory infrastructure improvements under the terms of leases approximated

$186.8 million We expect payments for these obligations to occur over one to three years subject to capital planning adjustments

from time to time We are also committed to fund approximately $48.3 million for certain investments over the next six years

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AND LEASING COSTS As of December 31 2009 we had an aggregate of

approximately 980000 rentable square feet undergoing vertical ground-up construction and an aggregate of approximately

575152 rentable square feet undergoing permanent change in use to life science laboratory space through redevelopment

including the conversion of single-tenancy space to multi-tenancy spaces or multi-tenancy spaces to single-tenancy space
For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we paid property-related capital expenditures and tenant

improvements related to our properties including expenditures related to our development and redevelopment projects

aggregating approximately $446.1 million $542.5 million and $589.7 million respectively These amounts include payments for

property-related capital expenditures and tenant improvements presented in the table below including non-revenue-enhancing

capital expenditures and tenant improvement and leasing costs related to re-tenanted and renewal space We expect our future

property-related capital expenditures and tenant improvements related to our life science properties to decrease in 2010 as

compared to 2009

The following table shows five-year average per square foot property-related capital expenditures tenant improvements and

leasing costs excluding capital expenditures and tenant improvements that are recoverable from tenants revenue-enhancing
or related to properties that have undergone redevelopment for the years ended December 312009200820072006 and 2005

Five-Year

YearEndedDecember3l Average 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Majorcapitalexperiditures 772000 529000 405000 1379000 575001 972Ott

Recurring capitalexpenditures 985.000 1405.000 955000 648000 639tOO 278000

Squarefeet in
portfolio 10581399 11740.993 11770769 11476217 9790326 8j28690

Persquarefoot

Majorcapitalexpendifures 0.07 0.05 0.03 0.12 0.06 0.12

Recurringcapifalexpenditures 0.09 0.12 0.08 0.06 0.07 0.16

TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AND LEASING COSTS

Re-tenanted space 21

Tenant improvements

and leasing costs 1619000 1475000 3481000 1446000 $1370000 324000

Re-tenanfed
squarefeet 264382 211638 505773 224767 248.846 130887

Persqsarefoot 6.12 6.97 6.88 6.43 5.51 2.48

Renewal space

Tenant improvements

and leasing costs 1861000 3263000 2364000 1942000 957000 778000

Renewalsquarefeet 703645 976546 748512 671127 455980 666058

Persquarefoot 2.64 3.34 3.16 2.89 2.10 1i7

Ill Prsperty-retated capitaleopeoditures inctudeall majorcapitaland recurring capitaleopenditsreseocept capitalexpendituresthatare recoverabletrorn tenants revenue-enhancing
capital eopenditures or costs reLated to the redevelopment of property Major capital expenditures consist of roof repLacements and heavy-duty heating ventiLation and air
condrtinning lHVAcl systemsthatare typicaltyidentified and considered at the time propertyis acquired

121 EocLudes
space that has undergone redeuelspment before

re-te000ting
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Capital expenditures fluctuate in any given period due to the nature extent and timing of improvements required aud the

extenl to which they are recoverable from our tenants As of December 31 2009 approximately 91% on rentable square

footage basis of our leases provide for the recapture of certain capital expenditures such as HVAC systems maintenance and/or

replacement roof replacement and parking lot resurfacing In addition we maintain an active preventive maintenance program

at each of our properties to minimize capital expenditures

Tenant improvements and leasing costs also fluctuate in any given year depending upon factors such as the timing and extent

of vacancies property age location characteristics the type of lease renewal tenant or re-tenanted space the involvement of

external leasing agents and overall competitive market conditions

We expect our future capital expenditures tenant improvements and leasing costs excluding capital expenditures and tenant

improvements that are recoverable from tenants revenue-enhancing or related to properties that have undergone redevelopment

to be approximately in the range as shown in the table on the previous page

UNSECURED LINE OF CREDIT AND UNSECUREO TERM LOAN We use our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan to fund

working capital construction activities and from time to time acquisition of properties Our $1.9 billion unsecured credit

facilities consist of $1.15 billion unsecured line of credit and $750 million unsecured term loan We may in the future elect

to increase commitments under our unsecured credit facilities by up to an additional $500 million As of December 31 2009

we had borrowings of $476 million and $750 million outstanding under our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan

respectively with weighted average interest rate including the impact of our interest rate swap agreements of approximately

4.10%

Our unsecured line of credit and unsecured termloan as amended bear interest at floating rate based on our election of either

LIBOR-based rate plus 1.00% to 1.45% depending on our leverage or the higher of rate based upon Bank of Americas

prime rate plus 0.0% to 0.25% depending on our leverage and the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50% For each LIBOR-based advance

we must elect LIBOR period of one two three or six months Our unsecured line of credit matures in October 2010 and may be

extended at our sole option for an additional one-year period to October2011 Our unsecured term loan matures in October 2011

and maybe extended at our sole option for an additional one-year period to October2012

Our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan contain financial covenants including among others the following as

defined under the terms of the agreement

leverage ratio less than 65.0%

fixed charge coverage ratio greater than 1.40

minimumbookvalueof$1.6billion and

secured debt ratio less than 55.0%

As of December 31 2009 we believe our two most restrictive financial covenants under our unsecured line of credit and

unsecured term loan were the leverage and fixed charge ratios Future changes in interest rates our outstanding debt balances and

other changes in our business operations or financial statements may result in default of these and other financial covenants

under our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan

In addition the terms of the unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan restrict among other things certain investments

indebtedness distributions mergers developments land and borrowings available under our unsecured line of credit and

unsecured term loan for developments land and encumbered assets As of December 312009 and 2008 we were in compliance

with all such covenants Management continuously monitors the Companys compliance and projected compliance with the

covenants Our current expectation is that we will continue to meet the requirements of our debt covenants in the short and long

term However in the event of continued economic down-turn continued crisis in the credit markets or rising cost of capital

there is no certainty that we will be able to continue to satisfy all of the covenant requirements

Aggregate unsecured borrowings may be limited to an amount based primarily on the net operating income derived from

pool of unencumbered and encumbered properties and our cost basis of development assets and land Aggregate unsecured

borrowings mayincrease as we completethe development redevelopment or acquisition of additionalunencumbered properties

As of December 31 2009 aggregate unsecured borrowings were limited to approximately $2.8 billion If net operating income

from properties supporting our borrowing capacity under our unsecured credit facilities decreases our borrowing capacity under

our credit facilities will also decrease Additionally we may be required to reduce our outstanding borrowings under our credit

facilities in order to maintain compliance with one or more covenants under our credit facilities
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As of December 31 2009 we had 49 lenders providing commitments under our $1.9 billion unsecured line of credit and

unsecured term loan During 2009 all lenders under our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan funded all borrowings

requested under these agreements In the future if one or more such lenders fail to fund borrowing request we may not be

able to borrow funds necessary for working capital construction activities dividend payments debt repayment monthly debt

service and other recurring capital requirements The failure of one or more lenders to fund their share of borrowing request

may have material impact on our financial statements

We have risks associated with the maturity of our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan There maybe fewer if

any tenders wilting to participate in future unsecured credit facilities and future commitments from lenders may be tower than

existing commitments In addition key terms and covenants maybe less favorable than existing key terms and covenants and we

may not be abte to raise capitat to repay our outstanding balance on our unsecured credit facilities prior to or at maturity

INTEREST RATE EDO AGREEM ENTS We utilize interest rate hedge agreements including interest rate swap and cap agreements

to hedge portion of our exposure to variable interest rates primarily associated with our unsecured line of credit and unsecured

term loan These agreements involve an exchange of fixed and floating rate interest payments without the exchange of the

underlying principal amount the notional amount Interest received under all of our interest rate hedge agreements is based

on the one-month LIBOR rate The net difference between the interest paid and the interest received is reflected as an adjustment

to interest expense

The following table summarizes our interest rate swap agreements as of December 312009 dollars in thousands

Etfective at

Transaction Ettectise Terminotien Interest Notional December31 Foir

Date Dale Date PayRate Amount 2009 Value

December2006 December292006 Merch3l2014 4.990% 50000 50000

December2006 January2 2007 Jenoary3 2011 5.003 28500 28500

October2007 Dcloberll 2007 September30 2012 4.546 50000 50000

October2007 October3l2007 September3t2013 4.642 50000 50000

December2005 Jaeaary2 2008 December31 2010 4.760 50000 50000 2103

June 2006 June30 2000 June 302010 5.325 50000 50000 1255

June 2006 June30 2000 June 302010 5.325 50000 50000 1255

October2007 July 12008 March 312013 4.622 25000 25000 12018

October2007 July 12008 March 312013 4.625 25000 25000 3028

October2008 Octoberlb2008 January3l2010 2.755 100000 100008 203

June 2006 October31 2008 December31 .2010 5.348 50000 50000 12391

June 2006 October31 2008 December312010 5.347 50000 50000

October2008 September30 2009 January31.2011 3.119 100000 100000

December2006 Neeember30 2009 March 312014 5.015 75000 75000

December2006 Neeember3t2009 March3l2014 5.023 75000 75000

December2006 December312010 October31 2012 5.815 100000 4359

Total $828500 149946

We have entered into master derivative agreements with each counterparty These master derivative agreements all of which

are adapted from the standard International Swaps Derivatives Association Inc form define certain terms between the

Company and each counterparty to address and minimize certain risks associated with our interest rate hedge agreements In

order to limit our risk of non-performance by an individual counterparty under our interest rate hedge agreements our interest

rate hedge agreements are spread among various counterparties As of December 31 2009 the largest aggregate notional amount

with an individual counterparty was $175 million tf one or more of our counterparties fail to perform under our interest rate

hedge agreements we may incur higher costs associated with our variable rate LIBOR-based debt than the interest costs we

originally anticipated
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As of December 31 2009 our interest rate swap agreements were ctassified tn accounts payable accrued expenses and

tenant securtty depostts based upon thetr respective fatr values aggregating liability balance of approximately $49.9 million

with the offsetting adjustment reflected as unrealized losses in accumulated other comprehensive loss in total equity Balances

in accumulated other comprehensive loss are recognized in earnings in the period that the forecasted hedge transactions affect

earnings Also during the year ended December 31 2009 we entered into an interest rate cap agreement with notional amount

approximating $38.4 million effective May 15 2009 and terminating on January 2012 This agreement sets ceiling on one-

month LtBOR at 2.50% related to one secured note The interest rate cap agreement was classified in other assets based upon

its fair value aggregating an asset balance of approximately $189000 We have not posted any collateral related to our interest

rate hedge agreements For the year ended December 31 2009 approximately $37.5 million was reclassified from accumulated

other comprehensive income to interest expense as an increase to interest expense During the next twelve months we expect

to reclassify approximately $28.6 million from accumulated other comprehensive loss to interest expense as an increase to

interest expense

SECU RED NOTES PAYABLE As of December 31 2009 we had aggregate secured notes payable of approximately $937.0 million

tf we are unable to refinance extend principal payments due at maturity or pay principal maturities with proceeds from other

capital sources then our cash flows may be insufficient to pay dividends to our stockholders and to repay debt upon maturity

Furthermore even if we are able to refinance debt prior to maturity the interest rate loan to value and other key loan terms may
be less favorable than existing loan terms Less favorable loan terms assuming we are able to refinance our secured notes payable

may result in higher interest costs additional required capital as result of less proceeds or lower loan to value upon refinancing

or new or more restrictive covenants or loan terms

DIVIDENDS We are required to distribute 90% of our REIT taxable income on an annual basis in order to continue to qualify as

REtT for federal income tax purposes Accordingly we intend to make but are not contractually bound to make regular quarterly

distributions to preferred and common stockholders from cash flows from operating activities All such distributions are at the

discretion of our board of directors We may be required to use borrowings under our unsecured line of credit if necessary to

meet REIT distribution requirements and maintain our REIT status We consider market factors and our performance in addition

to REIT requirements in determining distribution levels During the year ended December 31 2009 we paid dividends on our

common stock aggregating approximately $86.7 million Also during the year ended December 31 2009 we paid dividends on

our 8.375% series cumulative redeemable preferred stock Series Preferred Stock and Series Convertible Preferred Stock

aggregating approximately $10.9 million and $17.5 million respectively
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SOURCES OF CAPITAL

CASH AND CASH EOU IVALE NTS As of December 312009 we had approximately $70.6 million of cash and cash equivalents

TENANT SECURITY DEPOSITS AND OTHER RESTRICTED CASH Tenant security deposits and other restricted cash consisted of the

following in thousands

December31
2009 2008

Funds held in trusi underihe ierms nf ceriain secured sums Fayable
$1 934t 16118

Funds held in escrnw relemnd in cnnsiruciien Frnjecis
24054 49499

Diher resiricied funds
3897 2165

Tnial
$47291 67782

The funds held in escrow related to construction projects will be used to pay for certain construction costs

CASH FLOWS Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 312009 decreased by $49.9 million to $206.0

million compared to $255.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The decrease resulted primarily from decrease in

cash flows from overall changes in operating assets and liabilities partially offset by an increase in net income Cash flows from

operations are primarily dependent upon the occupancy level of our portfolio the net effective rental rates achieved on our

leases the collectability of rent operating escalations and recoveries from our tenants and the level of operating and other

costs We believe our cash flows from operating activities provide stable source of cash to fund operating expenses In addition

as of December 31 2009 approximately 88% of our leases on rentable square footage basis were triple net leases requiring

tenants to pay substantially all real estate taxes insurance utilities common area and other operating expenses including

increases thereto and approximately 8% of our leases on rentable square footage basis required the tenants to pay majonty

of operating expenses

We are largely dependent on the life science industry for revenues due under lease agreements Our business could be adversely

affected if the life science industry is impacted by the current economic downturn and financial and banking crisis or if the life

science industry migrates from the United States to other countries Our tenants may not be able to pay amounts due under their

lease agreements if they are unsuccessful in discovering developing making or selling their products or technologies

The bankruptcy or insolvency of major tenant may also adversely affect the income produced by property If any of our

tenants become debtor in case under the United States Bankruptcy Code the bankruptcy court must approve any eviction The

bankruptcy court may authorixe the tenant to reject
and terminate its lease with us Our claim against such tenant for unpaid

future rent would be subject to statutory limitation that might be substantially less than the remaining rent actually owed to us

under the tenants lease Any shortfall in rent payments could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to make distributions

to our stockholders

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 312009 was $409.9 million compared to $494.9 million for

the year ended December 312008 The decrease in net cash used in investing activities reflects lower proceeds from dispositions

as well as lower additions to properties due to our strategy to reduce capital spending in 2009 as compared 802008

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31 2009 decreased by $98.8 million to $203.4

million compared to $302.2 million for the year ended December 31 2008 For the year ended December 31 2009 proceeds of

approximately $1.5 billion from the issuance of common stock the issuance of our 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes and

borrowings from secured notes payable and our unsecured line of credit were partially offset by approximately $1.2 billion

related to the repurchases of certain of our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes principal reductions related to repayments

of outstanding principal on our secured notes payable and repayments of borrowings from our unsecured line of credit

Additionally for the year ended December 31 2009 we paid dividends on our common and preferred stock of approximately

$115.0 million For the year ended December 31 2008 proceeds of approximately $1.3 billion from the issuance of Series

Convertible Preferred Stock and borrowings from secured notes payable and our unsecured line of credit were partially offset by

principal repayments of approximately $0.9 billion related to outstanding amounts on our secured notes payable and unsecured

line of credit Additionally we paid dividends on our common and preferred stock of approximately $122.0 million during the year

ended December 31 2008
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UNSECURED LINE DF CREDIT AND UNSECURED TERM LOAN We use our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan to

fund working capital construction activities and from time to time acquisition of properties Our $1.9 billion unsecured credit

facilities consist of $1.15 billion unsecured line of credit and $750 million unsecured term loan We may in the future elect to

increase commitments under our unsecured credit facilities by up to an additional $500 million As of December 312009 we had

borrowings of $476 million and $750 million outstanding under our unsecured line of credit and unsecured termloan respectively

with weighted average interest rate including the impact of our interest rate swap agreements of approximately 4.10%

PROPERTY DISPOSITIONS During the year ended December 31 2009 we sold four properties at an aggregate contract price of

approximately $20.9 million The net sales proceeds were initially
used to repay outstanding secured debt related to the properties

sold or outstanding debt on our unsecured line of credit As of December 31 2009 we had three properties classified as held

for sale

OTHER RESOURCES AND LIDUIDITY REDUIREMENTS Under our current shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission we may offer common stock preferred stock debt and other securities These securities may be issued

from time to time at our discretion based on our needs and market conditions

In September 2009 we sold 4600000 shares of our common stock in follow-on offering including shares issued upon full

exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option The shares were issued at price of $53.25 per share resulting in aggregate

proceeds of approximately $233.S million after deducting underwriters discounts and other offering costs

In April2009 we completed private offering of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes The net proceeds from this offering

after initial purchasers fees and other offering costs were approximately $233.0 million Prior to April 20 2014 we will not

have the right to redeem the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes except to preserve our qualification as REIT On and after

that date we have the right to redeem the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes in whole or in part at any time and from time to

time for cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest to but

excluding the redemption date Holders of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase their notes in

whole or in part on April 15 2014 2019 and 2024 for cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be purchased

plus any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the repurchase date Holders of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes

may require us to repurchase all or portion of their notes upon the occurrence of specified corporate transactions including

change in control certain merger or consolidation transactions or the liquidation of the Company each Fundamental

Change at repurchase price in cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be repurchased plus any accrued

and unpaid interest to but excluding the fundamental change repurchase date At issuance the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible

Notes had an initial conversion rate of approximately 24.1546 shares of common stock per $1000 principal amount of the 8.00%

Unsecured Convertible Notes representing conversion price of approximately $41.40 per share of our common stock This initial

conversion price represented premium of 15% based on the last reported sale price of $36.00 per share of our common stock

on April 21 2009 The conversion rate of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes is subject to adjustments for certain events

including but not hmited to certain cash dividends on our common stock in excess of $0.35 per share per quarter and dividends

on our common stock payable in shares of our common stock As of December 31 2009 there was no change from the initial

conversion rate of our 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes Holders of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes may convert their

notes prior to the stated maturity date of April 15 2029 only under the following circumstances during any calendar quarter

after the calendar quarter ending June 30 2009 if the closing sale price of our common stock for each of 20 or more trading days

in period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter exceeds or

is equal to 130% of the conversion price in effect on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter during

the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive trading day period the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible

Note Measurement Period in which the average trading price per $1000 principal amount of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible

Notes was equal to or less than 98% of the average conversion value of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes during the 8.00%

Unsecured Convertible Note Measurement Period upon the occurrence of Fundamental Change if we call the 8.00%

Unsecured Convertible Notes for redemption and at any time from and including March 15 2029 until the close of business

on the business day immediately preceding April 15 2029 or earlier redemption or repurchase Upon conversion holders of the

8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes will receive cash shares of our common stock or combination thereof as the case may be

at our election Pursuant to the accounting literature related to convertible debt at issuance of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible

Notes we determined the effective interest rate of the notes to be 11.0%
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In March 2009 we sold 7000000 shares of our common stock in follow-on offering The shares were issued at price of

$38.25 per share resulting in aggregate proceeds of approximately $254.6 million after deducting underwriters discounts and

other offering costs

In March and April 2008 we completed public offering of 10000000 shares of Series convertible Preferred Stock The

shares were issued at price of $25.00 per share resulting in aggregate proceeds of approximately $242 million after deducting

underwriters discounts and other offering costs The proceeds from this offering were used to pay down outstanding borrowings

on our unsecured line of credit The dividends on our Series Convertible Preferred Stock are cumulative and accrue from the date

of original issuance We pay dividends quarterly in arrears at an annual rate of $1 .75 per share Our Series Convertible Preferred

Stock has no stated maturity and is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption provisions and we are not allowed

to redeem our Series Convertible Preferred Stock except to preserve our status as REIT Investors in our Series Convertible

Preferred Stock generally have no voting rights On or afterApril 202013 we may at our option be able to cause some or all of our

Series Convertible Preferred Stock to be automatically converted if the closing sale price per share of our common stock equals

or exceeds 150% of the then-applicable conversion price of the Series Convertible Preferred Stock for at least 20 trading days in

period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to our issuance of press release announcing

the exercise of our conversion option Holders of our Series Convertible Preferred Stock at their option may at any time and

from time to time convert some or all of their outstanding shares initially at conversion rate of 0.2477 shares of common stock

per $25.00 liquidation preference which was equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $100.93 per share of

common stock The conversion rate for the Series Convertible Preferred Stock is subject to adjustments for certain events

including but not limited to certain dividends on our common stock in excess of $0.78 per share per quarter and dividends on

our common stock payable in shares of our common stock As of December 312009 the Series Convertible Preferred Stock had

conversion rate of approximately 0.2480 shares of common stock per $25.00 liquidation preference whtch is equivalent to

conversion price of approximately $100.81 per share of common stock

In January 2007 we completed private offering of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes The net proceeds from this

offering after underwriters discount were approximately $450.8 million Prior to January 152012 we will not have the right to

redeem the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes except to preserve our qualification as REIT On and after that date we have the

right to redeem the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes in whole or in part at any time and from time to time for cash equal to

100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the redemption

date Holders of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase their notes in whole or in part on January

15 20122017 and 2022 for cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes lobe purchased plus any accrued and unpaid

interest to but excluding the repurchase date Holders of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase

all or portion of their notes upon the occurrence of Fundamental Change at repurchase price in cash equal to 100% of

the principal amount of the notes to be repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the fundamental

change repurchase date At issuance the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes had an initial conversion rate of approximately

8.4774 common shares per $1000 principal amount of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes representing conversion price

of approximately $117.96 per share of our common stock This initial conversion price represented premium of 20% based

on the last reported sale price of $98.30 per share of our common stock on January 10 2007 The conversion rate of the 3.70%

Unsecured Convertible Notes is subject to adjustments for certain events including but not limited to certain dividends on our

common stock in excess of $0.74 per share per quarter and dividends on our common stock payable in shares of our common

stock As of December 312009 the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes had conversion rate of approximately 8.5207 common

shares per $1000 principal amount of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes which is equivalent to conversion price of

approximately $117.36 per share of our common stock Holders of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes may converr their

notes into cash and if applicable shares of our common stock prior to the stated maturity of the notes only under the following

circumstances during any calendar quarter after the calendar quarter ending March 31 2007 if the closing sale price of our

common stock for each of 20 or more trading days in period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the

immediately preceding calendar quarter exceeds 120% of the conversion price in effect on the last trading day of the immediately

preceding calendar quarter during the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive trading day

period the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Note Measurement Period in which the average trading price per $1000 principal

amount of 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes was equal to or less than 98% of the average conversion value of the 3.70%

Unsecured Convertible Notes during the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Note Measurement Period upon the occurrence of

specified corporate transactions including change in control certain merger or consolidation transactions or the liquidation
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of the Company if we call the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes for redemption and at any time from and including

December 152026 until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding January 15 2027 or earlier redemption

or repurchase The 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Note Measurement Period is the five consecutive trading day period following

request by holder of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes to convert his or her notes Pursuant to the accounting literature

related to convertible debt at issuance of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes we determined the effective interest rate of the

nolestobe5.96%

We hold interests together with certain third parties in timited partnership and in limited liability companies which we

consolidate in our financial statements These third parties may contribute equity into these entities primarily related to their

share of funds for construction and financing-related activities

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS As of December 31 2009 we had no off-balance sheet arrangements

EXPOSURE TO ENVIRONMENTAL LIABI LITIES In connection with the acquisition of all of our properties we have obtained Phase

environmental assessments to ascertain the existence of any environmental liabilities or other related issues The Phase

environmental assessments of our properties have not revealed any environmental liabilities that we believe would have

material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations taken as whole nor are we aware of any material

environmental liabilities that have occurred since the Phase environmental assessments were completed In addition we carry

policy of pollution legal liability insurance covering exposure to certain environmental losses at substantially all of our properties

INFLATION As of December 312009 approximately 88% of our leases on rentable square footage basis were triple net leases

requiring lenants to pay substantially all real estate taxes insurance utilities common area and other operating expenses

including increases thereto In addition approximately 8% of our leases on rentable square footage basis required the tenants

to pay majority operating expenses Approximately 93% of our leases on rentable square footage basis contained effective

annual rent escalations that were either fixed generally ranging from 3.0% to 3.5% or indexed based on the consumer price

index or another index Accordingly we do not believe that our earnings or cash flow from real estate operations are subject to

any significant risk from inflation An increase in inflation however could result in an increase in the cost of our variable rate

borrowings including borrowings related to our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan
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FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

GAAP basis accounting for real estate assets utilizes historical cost accounting and assumes real estate values diminish over time

In an effort to overcome the difference between real estate values and historical cost accounting for real estate assets the Board

of Governors of NAREIT established the measurement tool of FF0 Since its introduction FF0 has become widely used non

GAAP financial measure among REITs We believe that FF0 is helpful to investors as an additional measure of the performance

of an equity REIT We compute FF0 in accordance with standards established by the Board of Governors of NAREIT in its

April 2002 White Paper the White Paper and related implementation guidance which may differ from the methodology for

calculating FF0 utilized by other equity REIT5 and accordingly may not be comparable to such other REITs The White Paper

defines FF0 as net income loss computed in accordance with GAAP ezcluding gains or losses from sales plus real estate

related depreciation and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures While FF0 is

relevant and widely used measure of operating performance for REITs it should not be considered as an alternative to net income

determined in accordance with GAAP as an indication of financial performance or to cash flows from operating activities

determined in accordance with GAAP as measure of our liquidity nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs

including our ability to make distributions see Sources of Capital Cash Flows above for information regarding these measures

of cash flow

The following table presents reconciliation of net income attributable to Alezandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s common

stockholders the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to FF0 to FF0 attributable to Alezandria Real Estate Equities

Incs common stockholders in thousands

Year Ended Oecember3l 2009 2008

Net incnme attributabletnAlenandria Real Entale Eqaitien lnc.ncnmmnn ntnckhnldern t4974 90746

Add

Deprecialinn and amnrtizalinn 118508 108743

Nel incnme allribstable In eancenlrelting interests 7047 3799

Net inceme attributable In annested restricted sterk awards 1270 1327

Subtract

Gain nn nalen el prnperly121 28401

FF0 attributable In nnncnntrntting interents 41 88

FF0 attributabtetn annented restricted ntnck awardn 2596

Ssbtnlal 222635 177510

Add

Annsmnd cnnnerninn nIB.00% Unnecared Cnnnertible Nnlen 11.943

Etlect nldilatine necaritien and asnsmed cnnverninn attributabtntn nnvented rentricted ntnck 118

FF0 attributable tnAlenandria Real Entate Equities Inca cnmman ntnckhnldnrnnnnaming ellect

aldilutine necarilien and ansumed cnnnnrninn 234696 $177519

ti Inntadnndnpreciatinn and amnrtizatinn an assets hetd lersate reltented as disnsetinsed nperatasslerthn perinds prinrtn when ssch assetswere ctassted as held tsrsate

121 Gais en satns el prnperty rnlaten tn Insr prnperties saId during 2089 ana eght prsperties sold during 2nna Cain en sales of prnperty ncLuded in the csnssLdated statements of

inrnmn in incame 1mm dscnntnsed nperatinns net
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates equity prices and foreign currency exchange rates

INTEREST RATE RISK The primary market risk to which we believe we are exposed is interest rate risk which may result from many

factors including government monetary and tax policies domestic and international economic and political considerations and

other factors that are beyond our control

In order to modify and manage the tnterest rate characteristtcs of oor outstandtng debt and to ttmit the effects of interest rate

risks on our operations we may utilize variety of financial instruments including interest rate swaps caps floors and other

interest rate exchange contracts The use of these types of instruments to hedge portion of our exposure to changes in interest

rates carries additional risks such as counterparty credit risk and the legal enforceability of hedging contracts

Our future earnings and fair values relating to financial instruments are primarily dependent upon prevalent market rates of

interest such as LIBOR However our interest rate hedge agreements are intended to reduce the effects of interest rate changes

Based on interest rates at and our interest rate hedge agreements in effect on December 31 2009 and 2008 we estimate that

1% increase in interest rates on our variable rate debt including our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan after

considering the effect of our interest rate hedge agreements would decrease annual future earnings by approximately $2.4

million and $3.6 million respectively We further estimate that 1% decrease in interest rates on our variable rate debt including

our unsecured line of credit and unsecured termloan after considering the effect of our interest rate hedge agreements in effect on

December 312009 and 2008 would increase annual future earnings by approximately $2.4 million and $3.6 million respectively

1% increase in interest rates on our secured debt unsecured convertible notes and interest rate hedge agreements would

decrease their aggregate fairvalues by approximately $67.8 million and $60.9 million at December 312009 and 2008 respectively

1% decrease in interest rates on our secured debt unsecured convertible notes and interest rate hedge agreements would

increase their aggregate fair values by approximately $57.5 million and $63.0 million at December 312009 and 2008 respectively

These amounts were determined by considering the impact of the hypothetical interest rates on our borrowing cost and our

interest rate hedge agreements in effect on December 312009 and 2008 These analyses do not consider the effects of the reduced

level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment Further in the event of change of such magnitude

we would consider taking actions to further mitigate our exposure to the change However due to the uncertainty of the spectfic

actions that would be taken and their possible effects the sensitivity analysis assumes no changes in our capital structure

EQUITY PRICE RISK We have exposure to equity price market risk because of our equity investments in certain publicly

traded companies and privately held entities We classify investments in publicly traded companies as available for sale

and consequently record them on our consolidated balance sheets at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported as

component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss Investments in privately held entities are generally accounted

for under the cost method because we do not influence any of the operating or financial policies of the entities in which we invest

For all investments we recognize other-than-temporary declines in value against earnings in the same period the decline in value

was deemed to have occurred There is no assurance that future declines in value will not have material adverse impact on our

future results of operations By way of example 10% decrease in the fair value of our equity investments as of December 312009

and 2008 would decrease their fair values by approximately $7.3 million and $6.2 million respectively

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE RISK We have exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk related to our subsidiaries

operating in Canada and China The functional currencies of our foreign subsidiaries operating in Canada and China are the

respective local currencies Cams or losses resulting from the translation of our foreign subsidiaries balance sheets and income

statements are included in accumulated other comprehensive income as separate component of total equity Cams or losses

will be reflected in our income statement when there is sale or partial sale of our investment in these operations or upon

complete or substantially complete liquidation of the investment Based on our current operating assets outstde the United States

as of December 31 2009 we estimate that 10% increase in foreign currency exchange rates relative to the United States dollar

would increase annual future earnings by approximately $746000 We further estimate that 10% decrease in foreign currency

exchange rates relative to the United States dollar would decrease annual future earnings by approximately $746000
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MANAGEMENTSANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL

CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc

THE MANAGEMENT OF Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adequate internal control over financial reporting Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 3a-1 and

lSd-15t promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and is process designed by or under the

supervision of the Companys Chief Executive Officer CEO and Chief Financial Officer CFO and effected by the

Companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with CAAP The

Companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of

records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP

and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorizations of the Companys management

and directors and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 In making its assessment management has utilized the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

COSO of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control Integrated Framework Management concluded that based on its

assessment the Companys internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2009 The effectiveness of

our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 has been audited by Ernst Young LLP an independent

registered accounting firm as stated in their report which is included herein
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Atexandria Rest Estate Equities Inc

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES INC

WE HAVE AUDITED Alexandria Real Estate Equtttes Inc.s the Company internal control over financial reporting as of December

31 2009 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria The Companys management is responsible for maintaining

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in Managements annual report on internal control over financial reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United Slates

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal

control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in

the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions

of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation

of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the

company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys

assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 312009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated

statements of income changes in stockholders equity and noncontrolling interests and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 312009 of the Company and in our report dated March 12010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Los Angeles California

March 12010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLICACCOUNTING FIRM

Atexandria ReaL Estate Equities Inc

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OFALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES INC

WE HAVE AUDITED the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc the Company

as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of income changes in stockholders equity and

noncontrolling interests and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatements An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates

made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide

reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial

position of Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc at December31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated results of their operations

and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 312009 in conformity with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements effective January 12009 the Company adopted FASB Staff

Position No APB 14-1 Accou.nting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled tn Cash upon Conversion Includtng

Partial Cash Settlement codified in FASB ASC 70-20 Debt with Conversion and Other Options FAS 160 Noncontrolling Interesr

in Consolidated Financial Statements codified in FASB ASC 810 Consolidation and FASB Staff Position No EITF 03-06-1

Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities codified in FASB

ASC 260 Earnings Per Share All years and periods presented have been reclassified to conform to the adopted accounting

standards

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 312009 based on criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and in our report

dated March 12010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

/OW7LLP

Los Angeles California

March 12010
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ALexandria Real Estate Equities Inc

December31

Dollars in thousands except pershare information 2009 2008

ASSETS

Rental properties net 3383308 321 5723

Lend hetd forfuture development 255025 109478

Construction in progress 400795 1398895

Cash and cash equivalents 70628 71 161

Tenant securitydepositsand otherrestricted cash 47291 67782

Tenant receivables 3902 6453

Deferred rent 96700 85733

Investments 72882 61861

Otherassets 126696 114991

Totalassets 5457227 5132077

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Secured notes payable 937017 1081963

Unsecured line of credit and unsecuredterm loan 1226000 1425000

Unsecured convertible notes 583929 4311

Accounts payable accrued expenses and tenant
securitydeposits 282516 386801

Dividends payable 21686 32105

Total liabilities 3051148 3357014

Commitmentsand contingencies

Redeemable noncontrolling interests 41441 33963

Alexandria Real Estate
Equities Inc stockholders equity

8.375% Series cumulative redeemable preferred stock $0.01 parvalue pershare 5750000 sharesauthorized

51 85580shares issued and outstanding at December31 2009 and 2008 $25 liquidation value pershare 29638 29638

7.00%Series cumulative convertible preferred stock $0.01 parvalue pershare 0000008sharesaufhorized

10080000 issued and outstanding at December31 2009and 2008 $25 liquidationvalue pershare 250.000 250000

Common stock $0.81 parvalue pershare 00000000 sharesauthorized 43846050 and 31899037 issued and

outstanding at December31 2089 and 2008 respectively /35 319

Additional paid-in capital 1977062 1407294

Accumulated othercomprehensive loss
133.730 1872411

TotalAlexandria Real Estate
Equities Inc stockholders equity 2323408 1700010

Noncontrolling interests 41230 41.090

Totalequity 2364638 1741100

Total 5/.57227 5132077

Theaccorepanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fsanciatstatements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Aexandria ReaLEstate Equties Inc

YearEnded December31

Dollars irithousands excet nershare information 2009 2008 2007

REVENUES

Rental $366162 341 066 293425

Tenant recoveries 02130 99372 80225

Otherincome 11848 11199 14689

Totalrevenues 480.140 451637 388339

EXPENSES

Rentaloperations
120494 12035 94905

Generaland administrative 36.290 34789 32311

Interest 81271 84108 92270

Depreciation and amortization 6909 06394 92887

Non-cash impairment on investments 13251

Totalexpenses 354964 350577 31 2373

Gain on earlyextinguishment of debt 11254

Incomefrom continuing operations
36430 101060 75.966

Income from discontinued operations net 5218 9037 14014

Net income 141648 20097 89980

Net income attributableto noncontrolling
interests 7047 3799 3669

Dividends on preferred stock 28357 24225 2020

Preferred stock redemption charge 2799

Net income attributable to unvested restricted stockawards 1270 1327 1075

Net income attributable toAlexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

commonstockholders $104974 90746 70417

Earnings pershare attributable toAtexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders basic

Continuingoperations
2.59 228 1.90

Discontinued operations net
0.13 0.59 0.47

Earningspersharebasic 2.72 2.87 2.37

Earnings pershare attributabletoAlexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders diluted

Continuing operations
2.59 2.27 1.90

Discontinued operations net 0.13 0.59 0.46

Earnings pershare diluted 2.72 2.86 2.36

The accompanying notesare an integral partof theseconsolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Atexandra Rest Estate Equties nc

Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc Stockholders Equity

Series

Series Series Convertible Numberot

Preterred Preferred Preterred Common Cemmee

Dottars in thousands Stack Stack Stack Shares Stack

8ALANCEAT DECEMBER 31 2006 57500 129638 29012135 $290

Netincome

Unrealized gaines marketable securities

Unrealized lessen interest rate

hedgeagreemeets

Foraigncurrencytranslation

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income attributable to

eonconlrolling interests

Comprehensive income attributable to

Alesandria Real Estate Equities Inc

Contributions
by noncontrolling

interests

Distributions te noncentrelling inlerasts

Issuance at common stack net at

offering casts 2308000 23

Redemption at Series Preferred Stack 57500

Equity component related to issuance

at 370% Unsecured Convertible Notes

Issuancespursuanttesteckplan 291209

Dividends declared on preferred stack

Bividends declared en common slack

BALANCOAT DECEMBER31 2007 129638 31603344 $316

Netincoma

Unrealized lessen marketable securities

Unrealized lass on interest rate hedge agreements

Foreign currencytranslation

Comprehansive incoma

Comprehansive incoma attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive income attributable to

Alexandria RealEslata Equities Inc

contributions by nencontrolling interests

Distribulionsto noncontrolling interests

Redemptionsotnoncontrolling interests

Issuance Series Convertible Preferred Slack 250008

Issuances pursuanlte stock plan 295693

Eividends declared en pralerred stock

Dividends declared on common stock

BALANCEAT DECEMBER 312008 129638 $250800 31899837 $319

Tleaccvmpanyieg netes are an integrat partof these cvesuLdated financiatetatemants
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Accumulated

Additional Other Redeemable

Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Noncontrolling Total Noncontrolling Comprehensive

Capital Earnings Income loss Interests Equity Interests Income

1139629 24595 37345 1388997 20132

86311 2184 88495 1485 89980

833 833 833

27892 27892 27892

10539 18 10557 10557

73478

3687

69791

2795 2795 15298

2160 2160 1573

215169 215192

2799 2799 57500

43830 43830

22524 22527

12020 12020

21761 71492 93253

1402190 8075 $40182 $1580401 $35342

116298 2416 118714 1383 $120097

16910 16910 16910

53623 53623 53623

24783 14 24769 24769

24795

3813

20982

1106 1106

2628 2628 1480

1282

7814 242186

23124 23127

24225 24225

10206 92073 102279

1407294 87241 $41090 1741100 33963
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS CONTD
ALexandria ReaL Estate Equities Inc

Alexandria Real Estate Equities
Inc Stockholders Equity

Series

Series Series Convertible Numberof

Preferred Preferred Preferred Common Common

Dollars in thousands Stock Stock Stock Shares Stock

BALANCEAT DECEMBER 312008 cxNTINuEOI 129638 250000 31899037 $319

Netincome

Unrealized gain on marketable securities

Unrealized gain loss on interest rate

hedgeagreements

Foreign currencytranslation

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive incomeattributableto

Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc

Contributionsbynoncontrollinginterests

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Redemptionsofnoncontrollinginterests

Issuance of common stock

net of offering costs 11600000 116

Issuancespursuanttostockplan 347013

Equitycomponent related to issuance of

8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes

Equity component related to repurchase of

3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes

Dividends declared on preferred stock

Dividends declared on common stock

Earningsinexcessof distributions

BALANCEAT DECEMBER31 2009 129638 250000 43846050 $438

The accompanying notes are an ntegral part of these consolidatedtnancialstatvrnents
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Additional

PaidIn

Capital

407294

488047

25786

26216

Accumulated

Other

Retained Comprehensive

Earninas Income loss

28357

76233

3001

87241

1620

30499

21392

Redeemable

Total Noncontrolling

Equity Interests

Noncontrolling

Interests

134601

$41090

2299

$1741100

136900

Comprehensive

Income

33963

4748 $141648

1620

30419

21383

195070

6958

$188112

1620

30499 80

21383

300 300 5255

2450 2450

1052

488163

25789

26216

292

28357

76233

292

30011

$1977062 $33730 $41230 2364638 41441

57 ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES INC



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc

Year Ended December31

Intheusands 2009 2008 2007

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 141 648 20097 89980

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 118508 108743 97335

Gain on earlyextinguishmentof debt 1112541

Amortization of loan fees and costs 7958 6774 5988

Amortization of debt premiums/discounts 10788 7973 6955

Amortization of acquired above-and below-market leases 9448 19509 7572

Deferred rent 112273 15.755

Stockcompensation expense 14051 13677 11176

Equity in income loss related to investments 173 330

Gain on sales of investments 3442 18841 112216

Loss on sales of investments 1342 663 186

Gain/loss on properties held forsale and salesof properties
2627 115751 7976

Non-cash impairmenton investments 13251

Changesinoperatingassetsand liabilities

Tenantsecuritydeposits and other restricted cash 1732 5644 744

Tenantreceivables 2551 306 1432

Otherassels 28734 121842

Accounts payable accrued expenses and tenant securitydeposits 19241 46752 33993

Net cash provided byoperating activities 205950 255837 88031

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additionsto properties
4461 27 1542460

Purchase of properties

Proceedsfrom sales of properties 8021 80909 70889

Change in restricted cash related to construction projects 25445 25772 117.913

Additionsto investments 2895 13006 116618

Proceeds from investments 5633 13311 9651

Net cash used in investing activities 409923 4949331

The accompanying nxtesarean integral part of these consolidated financialstatemeots
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Year Ended December31

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceedsfrom secured notes payable
121960 13007 240933

Principalreductionsof secured notes payable
266875 143477 261.171

Change in restricted cash related tofinancings 13.222 4257 382

Principalborrowingsfrom unsecured line of credit andterm loan 696000 1086000 1152000

Repayments of borrowingsfrom unsecured Line of credit 895000 776000 887000

Proceedsfrom unsecured convertible notes 232950 450800

Repurchase of 370% Unsecured Convertible Notes 59204

Redemption of Series Preferred Stock 57500

Proceedsfrom issuance of common stock 488163 215192

Proceedsfrom issuance of Series Convertible Preferred Stock 242186

Proceedsfrom eoerciue of stock options
3017 2509 1706

Dividends paid on common stock
866521 101393 89951

Dividends paid on preferred stock 28357 120578 12683

Contributions by
redeemable noncontrolling interests 5255 15298

Distributionsto redeemable noncontrolling interests 1393 1480 1573

Redemption of redeemable noncontrolling interests 1052 1282

Contributions bynoncontrolling
interests 300 1106 2795

Distributions to noncontrollinq interests 2450 2.628 2.160

Net cash provided byfiriancing activities 203440 302227 766304

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents
533 63131 5082

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of period

71161 8030 2948

Cash and cash equivalentsatend of period
70628 71161 8030

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during theyearforinterest net of interest capitalized
63247 73910 73467

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of these consolidated financialstatements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Alexandria ReatEstate Equities Inc

NOTE BACKGROUND

References to the Company we our and us refer to Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc and its subsidiaries

Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc is real estate investment trust REIT formed in 1994 We are focused principally on

science-driven cluster formation through the ownership operation management selective redevelopment development and

acquisition of properties containing life science laboratory space Our properties are designed and improved for lease primarily to

institutional universities and independent not-for-profit institutions pharmaceutical biotechnology medical device product

service and translational entities as well as government agencies As of December 312009 we had 156 properties 152 properties

located in ten states in the Dnited States and four properties located in Canada containing approximately 11.8 million rentable

square feet including spaces undergoing active redevelopmentcompared to 159 properties 155 properties located in ten states

in the Dnited States and four properties located in Canada with approximately 11.8 million rentable square feet including spaces

undergoing active redevelopment as of December 31 2008

As of December 312009 approximately 88% of our leases on rentable square footage basis were triple net leases requiring

tenants to pay substantially all real estate taxes and insurance common area and other operating expenses including increases

thereto In addition approximately 8% of our leases on rentable square footage basis required the tenants to pay majority

of operating expenses Additionally approximately 91% of our leases on rentable square footage basis provided for the

recapture of certain capital expenditures and approximately 93% of our leases on rentable square footage basis contained

effective annual rent escalations that were either fixed or based on the consumer price index or another index Any references

to the number of buildings square footage number of leases occupancy and annualized base rent percentages in the notes to

consolidated financial statements are unaudited

NOTE BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PRESENTATION The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Alexandria Real Estate

Equities Inc and its subsidiaries All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated

We hold interests together with certain third parties in limited partnership and in limited liability companies which we

consolidate in our financial statements We consolidate the limited partnership and limited liability companies because we

exercise significant control over major decisions by these entities such as investment activity and changes in financing

For entities that are variable interest entities VIEs we consolidate the entity if it is determined that we are the primary

beneficiary at either the creation of the VIE or upon occurrence of qualifying reconsideration event VIE is broadly defined

as an entity where either the equity investors as group if any do not have controlling financial interest or ii the equity

investment at risk is insufficient to finance that entitys activities without additional subordinated financial support Qualifying

reconsideration events include but are not limited to the modification of contractual agreements that affect the characteristics or

adequacy of the entitys equity investments at risk and the disposal of all or portion of an interest held by the primary beneficiary
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We use qualitative and quantitative approaches when determining whether we are or are not the primary beneficiary of VIE

Consideration of various factors includes but is not limited to the form of our ownership interest our representation of the

entitys governing body the size and seniority of our investment various cash flow scenarios related to the VIE our ability to

participate in policy-making decisions and the rights of the other investors to participate in the decision-making process and to

replace us as manager and/or liquidate the venture if applicable Our ability to correctly assess our influence or control over an

enfity at inceptioo of our involvement or upon reconsideration event and determine the primary beneficiary of VIE affects the

presentatton nf these entities in our consolidated financial statements If we were tn perform prtmary beneficiary analysis upon

the occurrence of future reconsideration event our assumptions may be different which could result in the identification of

different primary beneficiary See Note 13 Noncontrolling Interests

USE OF ESTIMATES The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting

principles GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities and

equity the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could materially differ from those estimates

RECLASSI Fl CATI NS Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation

RETROSPECTIVE AOJUSTMENTS FROM AOOPTION OF ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS In June 2008 the Financial Accounting

Standards Board the FASB issued new accounting literature with respect to determining whether instruments granted in share-

based payment transactions are participating securities The new guidance clarifies that unvested share-based payment awards

that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents whether paid or unpaid are participating securities and

should be included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the two-class method The new guidance was adopted

on January 2009 As result net income attributable to Alexandria Real Estate Equities Incs common stockholders and

earnings per share basic and diluted are adjusted for an allocation of net income to unvested restricted stock awards including

retrospective application to prior periods For the years ended Uecember 31 2009 2008 and 2007 approximately $1.3 million

$1.3 million and $1.1 million respectively of net income was attributable to unvested restricted stock awards

In May 2008 the FASB issued new accounting literature with respect to the accounting for convertible debt instruments that

may be settled in cash upon conversion including partial cash settlement On January 2009 we adopted the new guidance

which affects our outstanding 3.70% unsecured convertible notes 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Noteswhich may be settled

wholly or partially in cash The new guidance among other things requires that instruments within its scope be separated

into their liability and equity components as of the issuance date of the instrument by recording the liability component at the

fair value of similar liability that does not have an associated equity component and attributing the remaining proceeds from

issuance to the equity component The excess of the principal amount of the liability component over its initial fair value will

be amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over pedod of five years through January 2012 the first

date the holders of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase their notes As of the issuance date of

the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes we determined the effective interest rate of the notes to be 5.96% and approximately

$43.8 million of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes was classified as equity The new guidance also requires retrospective

application to prior periods For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we incurred additional non-cash interest

expense related to our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes net of amounts capitalized of approximately $3.5 million $6.6

million and $7.4 million respectively as result of adopting the new guidance

In December 2007 the FASB issued new accounting literature with respect to the accounting for noncontrolling interests in

consolidated financial statements The new guidance among other things requires alt entities to report noncontrolling interests

in subsidiaries within equity in the consolidated financial statements but separate from the parent stockholders equity If

noncontrolling interests are determined to be redeemable they are classified as temporary equity and reported at an amount

no less than the redemption value at each balance sheet date The new guidance also requires any acquisitions or dispositions

of noncontrolling interests that do not result in change of control to be accounted for as equity transactions In addition the

new guidance requires that parent company recognize gain or loss in net income when subsidiary is deconsolidated upon

change in control Purchases or sales of an interest in an entity that result in change of control is recognized at fair value

with gains or losses included in net income The new guidance was adopted on January 2009 and applied retrospectively

to prior periods The retrospective application of the presentation and disclosure requirements resulted in reclassification of

noncontrolling interests determined not to be redeemable to separate component of total equity including an allocation of
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accumulated other comprehensive income to noncontrolling interests and net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

is shown as reduction from net income in calculating net income attributable to Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s common

stockholders The retrospective application of the presentation and disclosure requirements of the new guidance did not impact

net income attributable to Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s common stockholders or earnings per share for the years ended

December 31 20092008 and 2007

The following financial statement line items were affected by the adoption of the new accounting literature related to convertible

notes noncontrolling interests and participating securities dollars in thousands except per share data

INCOME STATEMENT DATA

Interest expense

Income from continuing operations

Net income

81271 77723

136430 132931

141648 138149

84108 77537

101060 103832

120097 122869

Net income attributable toAlexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders

Earnings pershare attributabtetoAtexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders

104974 109792 90746 98644

Basic

Diluted

INCOME STATEMENT DATA

Interest expense

Incomefrom continxing operations

Net income

Net income attributable toAtexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders

Earnings pershare attributabletoAlexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders

Basic

Diluted

2.72 2.85 2.87 3.12

2.72 2.84 286 3.09

After

Adoption

Year Ended

De cx 31 20 07

Before

Adoption

92270 84857

75966 79710

89980 93724

70417 78905

2.37 2.66

2.36 2.63

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Construction in
progress

Other assets

3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes

Minority interest

Redeemable noncontrolling interests

Additional paid-in capital

Noncontrolling interests

1400795 1395879

126696 127053

368027 384700

82728

41441

1.977062 $1954934

41230

1398895 1397423

114.991 115636

431145 460000

75021

33963

1407294 1377448

41090

Year Ended

December31 .2009

After

Adoption

Before

Adoption

Year Ended

December312008

After

Adoption

Before

Adoption

December312009

After

Adoption

Before

Adoption

On ce 31 20 08

After

Adoption

Before

Adoption
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FAIR VALUE We are required to disclose fair value information about all financial instruments whether or not recognized in the

balance sheet for which it is practicable to estimate fair value We measure and disclose the estimated fair value of financial

assets and liabilities utilizing fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between data obtained from sources independent of the

reporting entity and the reporting entitys own assumptions about market participant assumptions This hierarchy consists of

three broad levels as follows using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities significant other

observable inputs and significant unobservable inputs Significant other observable inputs can include quoted prices

for similar assets or liabtlities in active markets as well as inputs that are observable for the asset or liability such as interest rates

foreign exchange rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals Significant unobservable inputs

are typically based on an entitys own assumptions since there is little if any related market activity In instances where the

determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy the level in the fair

value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement in its entirety Our assessment of the significance of particular input to the fair value measurement in its

entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents tenant security deposits and other restricted cash tenant receivables

other assets accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value As described in Note our interest rate hedge

agreements have been recorded at fair value The fair values of our secured notes payable unsecured line of credit unsecured

termloan and unsecured convertible notes were estimated using significant other observable inputs such as available market

information and discounted cash flows analyses based on borrowing rates we believe we could obtain with similar terms and

maturities Because the valuations of our financial instruments are based on these types of estimates the actual fair value of our

financial instruments may differ materially if our estimates do not prove lobe accurate Additionally the use of different market

assumptions or estimation methods may have material effect on the estimated fair value amounts As of December 31 2009

and 2008 the book and fair values of our secured notes payable unsecured line of credit unsecured term loan and unsecured

convertible notes were as follows in thousands

December31
2889 2088

Book Value Fair Vu tue Book Value FaIr Value

Secured nules payable 937817 989367 1081963 1058551

Unsecured line of creditand unsecured term loan 22600t 1175512 42500t 1333215

Uosecured convertible notes 583929 615572 431145 312880

OPERATING SEGMENT We are engaged in the business of providing life science laboratory space for lease to the life science

industry Our properties are similar in that they provide space for lease to the life science industry consist of life science laboratory

improvements that are generic and reusable for the life science industry are located in key life science cluster markets and have

similar economic characteristics Our chief operating decision maker reviews financial information for our entire consolidated

operations when making decisions on how to allocate resources and in assessing our operating performance The financial

information disclosed herein represents all of the financial information related to our principal operating segment

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS The functional currency for our subsidiaries operating in the United Slates is the United States

dollar We have four operating properties and one development parcel in Canada and two development parcels in China The

functional currency for our foreign subsidiaries operating in Canada and China is the local currency The assets and liabilities of

our foreign subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars at the exchange rate in effect as of the financial statement date

Income statement accounts of our foreign subsidiaries are translated using the average exchange rate for the periods presented

Gains or losses resulting from the translation are included in accumulated other comprehensive income loss as separate

component of total equity

The appropriate amounts of foreign exchange rate gains or losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income

loss will be reflected in income when there is sale or partial sale of our investment in these operations or upon complete or

substantially complete liquidation of the investment

RENTAL PROPERTIES NET LANO HELO FOR FUTURE OEVELOPMENT CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS ANO OISCONTINUEO OPERA

TI NS In December 2007 the FASB issued new accounting literature with respect to business combinations This new accounting
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literature was adopted prospectively beginning on January 2009 In accordance with the new guidance we recognize assets

acquired including the intangible values to above- or below-market leases acquired in-place leases tenant relationships and

other intangible assets or liabilities liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interests in an acquired entity at their fair values

as of the acquisition date The value of tangible assets acquired is based upon our estimation of value on an as if vacant basis The

values of acquired in-place leases includes the estimated carrying costs during the hypothetical lease-up period and other costs

that would have been incurred to ezecute similar leases considering market conditions at the acquisition date of the acquired

in-place lease The values of acquired in-place leases are classified as leasing costs included in other assets in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets and amortized over the remaining terms of the related leases We assess the fair value of tangible

and intangible assets based on numerous factors including estimated cash flow projections that utilize appropriate discount and

capitalization rates and available market information Estimates of future cash flows are based on number of factors historical

operating results known trends and market/economic conditions that may affect the property We also recognize the fair values

of assets acquired the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interests in acquisitions of less than 100% interest when the

acquisition constitutes change in control of the acquired entity In addition acquisition-related costs and restructuring costs

are ezpensed as incurred Prior to the adoption of the new guidance related to business combinations the purchase pdce was

allocated based upon relative fair values and acquisition-related costs on successful acquisitions were capitalized and amortized

over the estimated useful lives of the assets acquired

The values allocated to land improvements buildings building improvements tenant improvements and equipment are

depreciated on straight-line basis using an estimated life of 20 years for land improvements the shorter of the term of the

respective ground lease or 40 years for buildings and building improvements the respective lease term for tenant improvements

and the estimated useful life for equipment

The values of acquired above- and below-market leases are amortized over the terms of the related leases and recorded as either

an increase for below-market leases or decrease for above-market leases to rental income For the years ended December31

2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized net increase in rental income of approximately $9448000 $9509000 and $7572000

respectively for the amortization of acquired above- and below-market leases The value of acquired above- and below-market

leases less accumulated amortization was approximately $27746000 and $37194000 as of December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively The weighted average amortization period of acquired leases was approximately 4.0 years as of December 312009

The estimated aggregate annual amortization of acquired leases for each of the five succeeding years is approximately $5264000

for2olo $4009000 for 2011 $3467000 for 2012 $3415000 for 2013 and $3323000 for 2014

During the year ended December 31 2009 we recognized income of approximately $7242000 for cash payment related to

real estate acquired in November 2007 This amount is classified in other income in the accompanying consolidated statements

of income

We are required to capitalize construction redevelopment and development costs including preconstruction costs interest

property taxes insurance and other costs directly related and essential to the project while activities are ongoing to prepare an

asset for its intended use Costs incurred after project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use are expensed as

incurred Should development redevelopment or construction activity cease interest property taxes insurance and other costs

would no longer be
eligible

for capitalization and would be expensed as incurred Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are

expensed as incurred

We classify property as held for sale when all of the following criteria for plan of sale have been met management

having the authority to approve the action commits to plan to sell the property the property is available for immediate sale in

its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary an active program to locate buyer and other actions

required to complete the plan to sell have been initiated the sale of the property is probable and is expected to be completed

within one year the property is being actively marketed for sale at price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair

value and actions necessary to complete the plan of sale indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be

made or that the plan will be withdrawn When all of these criteria have been met the property is classified as held for sale its

operations including any interest expense directly attributable to it are classified as discontinued operations in our consolidated

statements of income and amounts for all prior periods presented are reclassified from continuing operations to discontinued

operations loss is recognized for any initial adjustment of the assets carrying amount to fair value less costs to sell in the period

the asset qualifies as held for sale Depreciation of assets ceases upon designation of property as held for sale

Rental properties net land held for future development construction in progress and intangibles are individually evaluated

for impairment when conditions exist that may indicate that it is probable that the sum of expected future undiscounted cash

flows is less than the carrying amount Impairment indicators for our rental properties land held for future development and
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construction in progress are assessed by project and include but are not limited to significant fluctuations in estimated net

operating income occupancy changes construction costs estimated completion dates rental rates and other market factors

We assess the expected undiscounted cash flows based upon numerous factors including but not limited to construction

costs available market information historical operating results known trends market/economic conditions that may affect the

property and our assumptions about the use of the asset including if necessary probability-weighted approach if multiple

outcomes are under consideration Upon determination that an impairment has occurred write-down is recorded to reduce

the carrying amount to its estimated fair value Based upon our evaluation we recognized non-cash impairment charge of

approximately $4650000 during the year ended December 31 2008 related to an industrial building located in suburban

submarket south of Boston and an office building located in the San Diego market This non-cash impairment charge is classified

in income from discontinued operations net in the accompanying consolidated statements of income

CONDITIONAL ASSET RETI REMENT OBLIGATIONS Some of our properties may contain asbestos which under certain conditions

requires remediation Although we believe that the asbestos is appropriately contained in accordance with environmental

regulations our practice is to remediate the asbestos upon the development or redevelopment of the affected property We recognize

liability for the fair value of conditional asset retirement obligation including asbestos when the fair value of the liability can

be reasonably estimated In addition for certain properties we have not recognized an asset retirement obligation when there

is an indeterminate settlement date for the obligation because the period in which we may remediate the obligation may not be

estimated with any level of precision to provide for meaningful estimate of the retirement obligation Conditional asset retirement

obligations totaled approximately $10.6 million and $10.9 million as of December 312009 and 2008 respectively and are included

in accounts payable accrued expenses and tenant security deposits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

CASH AND CASH EOUIVALENTS We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when

purchased to be cash and cash equivalents The majority of our cash and cash equivalents are held at majorcommercial banks in

accounts that may at times exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC limit We have not expenenced any losses

to date on our invested cash

TENANT SECURITY DEPOSITS AND OTHER RESTRICTED CASH Tenant security deposits and other restricted cash consisted of the

following in thousands

Oecemter3l 2tt9 2008

Funds held in trust underthetermsot certain secured notes psyabte 9340 16118

Fundsheld in sscrow rststed to construction proiects 24054 49499

Othsrrestrictedtunds 3897 2165

Total $47291 67782

INVESTMENTS We hold equity investments in certain publicly traded companies and privately held entities primarily involved

in the life science industry All of our investments in publicly traded companies are considered available for sale and are

recorded at fair value Fair value has been determined based upon the closing price as of each balance sheet date with unrealized

gains and losses shown as separate component of total equity The classification of each investment is determined at the time

each investment is made and such determination is reevaluated at each balance sheet date The cost of each investment sold is

determined by the specific identification method with net realized gains included in other income tnvestments in privately held

entities are generally accounted for under the cost method when our interest in the entity is so minor that we have virtually no

influence over the entities operating and financial policies Certain investments in privately held entities are accounted for under

the equity method when our interest in the entity is not deemed so minor and we are deemed to have influence over the entities

operating and financial policies Under the equity method of accounting we record our investment initially at cost and adjust the

carrying amount of the investment to recognize our share of the earnings or losses of the investee subsequent to the date of our

investment As of December31 2009 and 2008 our ownership percentages in the voting stock of each individual privately held

entity were under 10%

Individual investments are evaluated for impairment when changes in conditions may indicate an impairment exist The

factors that we consider in making these assessments include but are not limited to market prices market conditions available
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financing prospects for favorable or unfavorable clinical trial results new product initiatives and new collaboration agreements

If there are no identified events or changes in circumstances that would have an adverse effect on our cost method investments

we do not estimate its fair value For all of our investments if decline in the fair value of an investment below the carrying value

is determined to be other-than-temporary such investment is written down to its estimated fair value with non-cash charge to

current earnings We use significant other observable inputs and significant unobservable inputs to determine the fair value

of privately held entities

LEASING COSTS Costs directly related and essential to our leasing activities are capitalized and amortized on straight-line

basis over the term of the related lease Costs related to unsuccessful leasing opportunities are expensed Leasing costs net of

related amortization totaled approximately $70209000 and $60147000 as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively and

are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The value of acquired in-place leases is included

in the amounts immediately above classified as leasing costs included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets and amortized over the remaining term of the related lease The value of acquired in-place leases net of related

amortization was approximately $8177000 and $12184000 as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The estimated

annual amortization of the value of acquired in-place leases for each of the five succeeding years is approximately $2528000 for

2010 $1689000 for 2011 $1101000 for2Ol2 $925000 for 2013 and $667000 for 2014

LOAN FEES AND COSTS Fees and costs incurred in obtaining long-term financing are amortized over the terms of the related

loans and included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income Loan fees and costs net of

related amortization totaled approximately $23706000 and $21018000 as of December 312009 and 2008 respectively and are

included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

INTEREST RATE HEDGE AGREEM ENTS We utilize interest rate hedge agreements including interest rate swap and cap agreements

to hedge portion of our exposure to variable interest rates primarily associated with our unsecured line of credit and unsecured

term loan We recognize our interest rate hedge agreements as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value The

accounting for changes in fair value i.e gains or losses of derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated

and qualifies as part of hedging relationship and further on the type of hedging relationship For those derivative instruments

that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments company must designate the hedging instrument based upon the

hedged exposure as fair value hedge cash flow hedge or hedge of net investment in foreign operation Our interest rate

hedge agreements are considered cash flow hedges as they are designated and qualify as hedges of the exposure to variability

in expected future cash flows Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on

the hedging instrument with the recognition of the changes in the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in cash

flow hedge

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE ACCRUED EXPENSES AND TENANT SECURITY DEPOSITS AsofDecember3l2009 accountspayable accrued

expenses and tenant security deposits included interest rate swap liabilities of approximately $49946000 accounts payable

and accrued expenses of approximately $48866000 accrued construction costs of approximately $36856000 and acquired

below-market leases of approximately $27746000 As of December 31 2008 accounts payable accrued expenses and tenant

security deposits included interest rate swap liabilities of approximately $80542000 accounts payable and accrued expenses

of approximately $86161000 accrued construction costs of $73470000 and acquired below-market leases of approximately

$37194000

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ILOSSI INCOME Accumulated other comprehensive loss income attributable to

Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc consists of the following in thousands

December31 2009 2008

Unrealized gain on marketable securities 7280 6660

Unrealized loss on interest rate hedgeagreements 50843 80542

Unrealized gain toss on foreign currencytranslation 9033 2.359

Total $133730 87241

66 2009ANNUALREPORT



RENTAL INCOME AND TENANT RECOVERIES Rental income from leases with scheduled rent increases free rent incentives or

other rent adjustments is recognized on straight-line basis over the respective lease terms We include amounts currently

recognized as income and expected to be received in later years in deferred rent in the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets Amounts received currently but recognized as income in future years are included as unearned rent in accounts payable

accrued expenses and tenant security deposits in our consolidated balance sheets We commence recognition of rental income

at the date the property is ready for its intended use and the tenant takes possession of or controls the physical use of the property

Tenant recoveries related to reimbursement of real estate taxes insurance utilities repairs and maintenance and other

operating expenses are recognized as revenue in the period the applicable expenses are incurred

If necessary we maintain an allowance for estimated losses that may result from the inability of our tenants to make payments

required under the terms of the lease If tenant fails to make contractual payments beyond any allowance we may recognize

additional bad debt expense in future periods equal to the amount of unpaid rent and unrealized deferred rent As of December31

2009 and 2008 we had no allowance for doubtful accounts

INTEREST INCOME Interest income was approximately $1503000 $1763000 and $1916000 in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively and is included in other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of income

INCOME TAXES We are organized and qualify as REIT pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code

Under the Code REIT that distributes 100% of its taxable income to its shareholders each year and that meets certain other

conditions is not subject to federal income taxes but could be subject to certain state and local taxes We generally distribute 100%

or more of our taxable income Therefore no provision for federal income taxes is required We file tax returns including returns

for our subsidiaries with federal state and local jurisdictions including jurisdictions located in the United States Canada

China and other international locations Our tax returns are subject to examination in various jurisdictions for the calendar years

2005 through 2009

We recognize tax benefits of uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained based

solely on its technical merits with the taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information The measurement of

tax benefit for an uncertain tax position that meets the more likely than not threshold is based on cumulative probability

model under which the largest amount of tax benefit recognized is the amount with greater than 50% likelihood of being

realized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing authority having full knowledge of all the relevant information As of December

312009 there were no unrecognized tax benefits We do not anticipate significant change to the total amount of unrecognized

lax benefits within the next twelve months

Interest expense and penalties if any would be recognized in the first period the interest or penalty would begin accruing

according to the provisions of the relevant tax law at the applicable statutory rate of interest We did not incur any tax-related

interest expense or penalties for the years ended December 3120092008 or 2007

During the years ended December 312009 2008 and 2007 we declared dividends on our common stock of $1.85 $3.18 and

$3.04 per share respectively During the year ended December 312007 we declared dividends on our 9.10% series cumulative

redeemable preferred stock Series Preferred Stock of $04108 per share During the years ended December 31 2009 2008

and 2007 we declared dividends on our 8.375% series cumulative redeemable preferred stock Series Preferred Stock

of $209375 per share During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we declared dividends on our 7.00% series

cumulative convertible preferred slock Series Convertible Preferred Stock of $1.7S and $1 .409 722 per share respectively

See Nole 11 Preferred Stock and Excess Stock

The tax treatment of distributions on common stock paid in 2009 was as follows 98.8% ordinary dividend and 1.2%

return of capital Our tax return for 2009 is due on or before September 15 2010 assuming we file for an extension of the due

date The tax treatment of distributions on common stock paid in 2008 was as follows 81.1% ordinary dividend 6.6%

capital gain at 15% and 12.3% return of capital The taxability information presented for our dividends paid in 2009 is based

upon managements estimate Our tax returns for previous tax years have not been examined by the Internal Revenue Service

Consetuently the taxability of distributions and dividends is subject to change The information provided in this paragraph

is unaudited
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NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EOUITIES INC The following table shows net income attributable to

Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc in thousands

YearEnded December31 2009 2008 2007

Income from continuing operaf
loon $1 29383 97261 72297

Incomefrom discontinued operations net 5218 9037 14014

Net income ettributabletoAlesandrie Real Estate Equities Inc $1 34601 $11 6298 $86311

EARNINGS PER SHARE DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PREFERRED STOCK REDEMPTION CHARGE We account for unvested

restricted stock awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends as participating securities and include these securities

in the computation of earnings per share using the two-class method Under the two-class method we allocate net income after

preferred stock dividends and amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests to common stockholders and unvested restricted

stock awards based on their respective participation rights to dividends declared or accumulated and undistributed earnings

Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average shares of common stock outstanding determined for the basic

earnings per share computation plus the effect of any dilutive securities including the dilutive effect of stock options using the

treasury stock method

We applied the if-converted method for our 8.00% unsecured senior convertible notes 8.00% Unsecured Convertible

Notes tn applying the if-converted method conversion is assumed for purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share if the

effect would be dilutive to earnings per share If the assumed conversion pursuant to the if-converted method is dilutive diluted

earnings per share would be calculated by adding back interest charges applicable to our 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes

to the numerator and our 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes would be assumed to have been converted at the beginning of the

period presented or from the date of issuance it occurring on date later than the date that the period begins and the resulting

incremental shares associated with the assumed conversion would be included in the denominator For purposes of calculating

diluted earnings per share we did not assume conversion of our 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes since they were anti-dilutive

to earnings per share for the year ended December 312009

The following table shows the computation ot earnings per share and dividends declared per common share dollars in

thousands except per share amounts

YesrEnded December31 2009 2008 2007

NUMERATOR

Net incomeettributabletoAlesendrie Real Estate Equities Inc.s common stockholders

numeratorforbasicesrningspershare 1t4974 90746 70417

Assumed conversion of 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes

Effect of dilutive securities and assumed conversion attributable fo unvested restricted stock awards

Net income attribufabletoAtesandria Real Estate Equities lnc.scommon stockholders

numeratorfordilufedearningspershare 104974 90751 70423

DENOMINATOR

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding basic 38586909 31653829 29660231

Effecf of dilutive securilies

Dilutive effect of st ock opt ions 13160 111226 163782

Assumed conversion of 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes

Weighted average sharesof common stockoufstending diluted 38600069 31765055 29832t13

Earnings pershareattributabletoAleeandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders

Basic 2.72 2.87 2.37

Diluted 2.72 2.86 2.36

Dividendsdeclsred percemmon share ES 3.18 3.04
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Our calculation of weighted average diluted shares will include additional shares related to our 3.70% Unsecured convertible

Notes when the average market price of our common stock is higher than the conversion price $11 7.36 as of December 312009

The number of additional shares that will be included in the weighted average diluted shares is equal to the number of shares that

would be issued upon the settlement of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes assuming the settlement occurred at the end of

the reporting period pursuant to the treasury stock method For the years ended December 3120092008 and 2007 the weighted

average shares of common stock related to our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes have been excluded from diluted weighted

average shares of common stock as the average market price of our common stock was lower than the conversion price of

$117.36 as of December 31 2009 related to our 3.70% Dnsecured Convertible Notes and the impact of conversion would have

been anti-dilutive

The dilutive effect of our Series Convertible Preferred Stock will be reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of

the if-converted method For the years ended December 312009 2008 and 2007 the weighted average shares of common stock

related to our Series Convertible Preferred Stock have been excluded from diluted weighted average shares of common stock as

the impact on diluted earnings per share was anti-dilutive

During 2007 we recorded charge of approximately $2799000 for costs related to the redemption of our Series Preferred

Stock This amount represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred to the holders of our Series Preferred

Stock redeemed over the carrying amount of our Series Preferred Stock and is subtracted from net earnings to determine net

income attributable to Alexandria Real Estate Equities IncTh common stockholders in the calculation of earnings per share

attributable to Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s common stockholders The cost to issue our Series Preferred Stock was

recorded as reduction to additional paid-in capital in the period that the preferred stock was issued Upon any redemption of

our preferred stock the respective offering costs representing the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred to the

holders over the carrying amount of the preferred stock will be recognized as dividend to preferred stockholders Additionally

dividends on preferred stock are deducted from net income to arrive at net income attributable to Alexandria Real Estate Equities

Incs common stockholders

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE We have historically issued two forms of stock-based compensatton under our equity

incentive plan options to purchase common stock options and restricted stock awards We have not granted any options

since 2002 We recognize all stock-based compensation in the income statement based on the grant date fair value The fair value

is recorded based on the market value of the common stock on the grant date and such cost is then recognized on straight-line

basis over the period during which the employee is required to provide services in exchange for the award the vesting period

We are required to compute stock-based compensation based on awards that are ultimately expected to vest and as result

future forfeitures of awards are estimated at the time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures

differ from those estimates No compensation cost is recognized for equity instruments that are forfeited or are anticipated

to be forfeited

IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS tnJanuary2olo theFASBtssuedanAccountingStandardUpdate ASU
to address implementation issues associated with the accounting for decreases in the ownership of subsidiary The new guidance

clarified the scope of the entities covered by the guidance related to accounting for decreases in the ownership of subsidiary

and specifically excluded in-substance real estate or conveyances of oil and gas mineral rights from the scope Additionally the

new guidance expands the disclosures required for business combination achieved in stages and deconsolidation of business

or nonprofit activity The new guidance became effective for interim and annual periods ending on or after December 31 2009

and must be applied on retrospective basis to the first period that an entity adopted the new guidance related to noncontrolling

interests The adoption of this new guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements

In January 2010 the FASB issued an ASU to address diversity in practice related to the accounting for distribution to

shareholders that offers them the ability to elect to receive their entire distribution in cash or shares of equivalent value with

potential limitation on the total amount of cash that shareholders can elect to receive in the aggregate The new guidance clarifies

that the stock portton of distribution to shareholders that allows them to elect to receive cash or shares with potential limitation

on the total amount of cash that all shareholders can elect to receive in the aggregate is considered share issuance that is reflected

in earnings per share prospectively as opposed to stock dividend that is retroactively applied by restating shares outstanding and

earnings per share for all periods presented The new guidance became effective for interim and annual periods ending on or after

December 312009 and must be applied on retrospective basis The adoption of this new guidance did not have an impact on our

consolidated financial statements
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In June 2009 the FASB established the FASB Accounting Standards Codification the Codification as the source of

authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of

financial statements in conformity with GAAP Rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC
under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants All guidance contained in the

Codification carries an equal level of authority The Codification became effective for interim or annual financial periods ending

after September 152009 The adoption of the Codification did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements

In June 2009 the FASB issued new accounting literature with respect to the consolidation of VIEs The new guidance impacts

the consolidation guidance applicable to VIEs and among other things requires qualitative rather than quantitative analysis

to determine the primary beneficiary of VIE continuous assessments of whether company is the primary beneficiary of VIE

and enhanced disclosures about companys involvement with VIE The new guidance applies to our fiscal year beginning on

January 12010 and early adoption is prohibited We are currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on our consolidated

financial statements

In May 2009 the FASB issued new accounting literature with respect to subsequent events The new guidance among other

things clarifies accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are

issued or available to be issued We adopted the new guidance effective April 12009 and the adoption did not have an impact on

our consolidated financial statements

NOTE RENTAL PROPERTIES NET LANO HELD FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Our real estate consisted of the following in thousands

Oecember3l 2009 2Ott

Land 474859 450812

Bsitdings and buitding improvements 3249866 30133t

Otherimprovements 79232 80256

Gross booksalue otreatestats operating properties 3903955 3644413

Less accumutated depreciation 52t647 428690

Rental properties net 3353305 321 5723

Land hetdfortoturedesetopment 255025 1t9478

Construction in
progress

4tt795 1.398895

Reatestate investments net $5039128 4724096

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 certain of our rental properties were encumbered by deeds of trust and assignments ot

rents and leases associated with the properties See Note Secured Notes Payable The net book values of encumbered rental

properties net as of December 312009 and 2008 were approximately $1304235000 and $1324011000 respectively

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we had approximately $3.4 billion and $3.2 billion respectively of rental properties net

aggregating 11.2 million and 11.1 million rentable square feet respectively Additionally as of December31 2009 and 2008 we

had approximately $255.0 million and $109.5 million respectively of land held for future development aggregating 4.8 million

and 2.9 million rentable square feet respectively Land held for future development represents real estate we plan to develop in

the future but as of each period presented no construction activities were ongoing As result interest property taxes insurance

and other costs are expensed as incurred
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As of December 312009 and 2008 we had approximately $1.4 billion undergoing preconstruction and construction activities

including development and redevelopment These projects are classified in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as

construction in progross As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we had 575152 and 590057 rentable square feet respectively

undergoing active redevelopment through permanent change in use to life science laboratory space including conversion of

single- tenancy to multi-tenancy spaces or multi-tenancy spaces to single-tenancy space In addition as of December 312009 and

2008 we had 980000 and 875000 rentable square feet respectively undergoing active ground-up development consisting of

vertical aboveground construction of life science laboratory properties Additionally as of December31 2009 and 2008 we had

an aggregate of 6.3 million and 7.6 million rentable square feet respectively undergoing preconstruction activities

permitting design site work and activities prior to commencement of vertical construction of aboveground core and shell

and new markets and other projects We are required to capitalize interest during the period an asset is undergoing activities to

prepare it for its intended use Capitalization of interest ceases after project is substantially complete and ready for it intended

use In addition should construction activity cease interest would be expensed as incurred Total interest capitalized for the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was approximately $76884000 $74194000 and $56057000 respectively Total

interest incurred for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was approximately $148370000 $152765000 and

$144898000 respectively

We lease space under noncancellable leases with remaining terms of up to 15 years Minimum lease payments to be received

under the terms of the operating lease agreements excluding expense reimbursements as of December31 2009 are as follows

in thousands

Year
Amoeni

2010 319794

2011
314394

2012 260268

2013 226355

2014 196786

Thereatier
675473

$1993070

NOTE INVESTMENTS

We hold equity investments in certain publicly traded companies and privately held entities primadly involved in the life science

industry All of our investments in publicly traded companies are considered available for sale and are recorded at fair value

Fair value of our investments in publicly traded companies has been determined based upon the closing price as of the balance

sheet date with unrealized gains and losses shown as separate component of total equity The classification of each investment

is determined at the time each investment is made and such determination is reevaluated at each balance sheet date The cost

of each investment sold is determined by the specific identification method with net realized gains and losses included in

other income Investments in privately held entities are generally accounted for under the cost method when our interest in the

entity is so minor that we have virtually no influence over the entities operating and financial policies Additionally we limit

our ownership percentage in the voting stock of each individual entity to less than 10% As of December31 2009 and 2008 our

ownership percentage in the voting stock of each individual entity was less than 10%

Individual investments are evaluated for impairment when changes in conditions may indicate an impairment exists The

factors that we consider in making these assessments include but are not limited to market prices market conditions available

financing prospects for favorable or unfavorable clinical trial results new product initiatives and new collaboration agreements

If there are no identified events or changes in circumstances that would have an adverse effect on our cost method investments

we do not estimate their fair value For all of our investments if decline in the fair value of an investment below the carrying
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value is determined to be other-than-temporary such investment is written down to its estimated fair value with non-cash

charge to current earnings We use significant other observable inputs and significant unobservable inputs to determine

the fair value of privately held entities As result of these assessments in 2008 we recognized aggregate non-cash impairment

charges of $13251000 for other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of investments

The following table summarizes our available for sale securities in thousands

December31 2009 2008

Adjusted cost ot available forsate securities 1518 699

Gross unrealized gains 7417 5.660

Grossunreatizedtosses 137

Fairvatue of avaitabteforsate securities $8798 6359

Investments in available for sale securities with gross unrealized losses as of December31 2009 had been in continuous

unrealized loss position for less than twelve months We have the ability and intent to hold these investments for reasonable

period of time sufficient for recovery of our investment We believe that these unrealized losses are temporary and accordingly

we have not recognized an other-than-temporary impairment related to available for sale securities as of December 312009

Our investments in privately held entities as of December 31 2009 and 2008 totaled approximately $64084000 and

$55502000 respectively Of these totals approximately $64050000 and $55478000 respectively are accounted for under the

cost method The remainder approximately $34000 and $24000 as of December 312009 and 2008 respectively are accounted

for under the equity method As of December31 2009 and 2008 there were no unrealized losses in our investments in privately

held entities

Net investment income of approximately $2139000 $8005000 and $11700000 was recognized in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively and is included in other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of income Net investment income

in 2009 consisted of equity in income related to investments in privately held entities accounted for under the equity method of

approximately $39000 gross realized gains of approximately $3442000 and gross realized losses of approximately $1342000

Net investment income in 2008 consisted of equity in loss related to investments in privately held entities accounted for under

the equity method of approximately $173000 gross realized gains of approximately $8841000 and gross realized losses of

approximately $663000 Net investment income in 2007 consisted of equity in loss related to investments in privately held entities

accounted for under the equity method of approximately $330000 gross realized gains of approximately $12216000 and gross

realized losses of approximately $186000 For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 approximately $2272000

$10816000 and $7620000 respectively was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to realized gains net

and is included in other income
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NOTE SECURED NOTES PAYABLE

Secured notes payable totaled approximately $937 million and $1.1 billion as of December31 2009 and 2008 respectively Our

secured notes payable had weighted average interest rates of approximately 5.83% and 5.26% at December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively with maturity dates ranging from March 201010 September2033

Our secured notes payable generally require monthly payments of principal and interest The total net book values of rental

properties net land held for future development and construction in progress representing collateral for secured debt were

approximately $1.4 billion and $1.8 billion as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively At December31 2009 our secured

notes payable were comprised of approximately $831 million and $105.5 million of fixed and variable rate debt respectively

compared to approximately $785.S million and $296.4 million of fixed and variable rate debt respectively at December 312008

Future principal payments due on secured notes payable as of December 312009 were as follows in thousands

Year
Amount

2010 35982

2011
135074

2012 41117

2013 91144

2014 216952

Thereafter
416748

$937017

Assumeswe exercise oursole rightto extend the rnaturitydatesofa secured note payable of approximately$28.5 milLion from Jusuary 12011 toJaouary 201 and secured note

payableofapprooimately$38.4rnillionfromJanuary2 2012 toApril62013.Ameuntsinclude noncontrolling interests shareof scheduled principal maturitiesofapproximateLy$393

milLion of which approoimately$t 7.6 milLion and $20.8 million mature in 2Ol3ond 2014 respectively Also amounlsare set of unamortized discounts of approoimately$2.1 million

NOTE UNSECURED LINE OF CREDIT AND UNSECURED TERM LOAN

Our $1.9 billion in unsecured credit facilities consist of $1.15 billion unsecured line of credit and $750 million unsecured

term loan We may in the future elect to increase commitments under our unsecured credit facilities by up to an additional $500

million As of December31 2009 we had borrowings of $476 million and $750 million outstanding under our unsecured line of

credit and unsecured term loan respectively with weighted average interest rate including the impact of our interest rate swap

agreements of approximately 4.10%

Our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan as amended bear interest at floating rate based on our election of either

London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR based rate plus 1.00% to 1.45% depending on ourleverage or the higher of rate

based upon Bank of Americas prime rate plus 0.0% to 0.25% depending on our leverage and the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50% For

each LIBOR-based borrowing we must elect LIBOR period of one two three or six months Our unsecured line of credit matures

in October 2010 and may be extended at our sole option for an additional one-year period to October 2011 Our unsecured term loan

matures in October 2011 and may be extended at our sole option for an additional one-year period to October 2012

Our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan contain financial covenants including among others the following as

defined under the terms of the agreement

leverage ratio less than 65.0%

fixed charge coverage ratio greater than 1.40

73 ALEXANDRIAREAL ESTATE EQUITIES INC



minimum book value of $1.6 billion and

secured debt ratio less than 55.0%

In addition the terms of the unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan restrict among other things certain investments

indebtedness distributions mergers developments land and borrowings available under our unsecured line ot credit and

unsecured term loan for developments land and encumbered assets As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we were in compliance

with all such covenants

Aggregate unsecured borrowings may be limited 10 an amount based primarily on the net operating income derived from

pooi of unencumbered and encumbered properties and our cost basis of development assets and land Aggregate unsecured

borrowings may increase as we complete the development redevelopment or acquisition of additional unencumbered

properties As of December 312009 aggregate unsecured borrowings were limited to approximately $2.8 billion

NOTE UNSECURED CONVERTIBLE NOTES

8.00% UNSECURED CONVERTIBLE NOTES In April 2009 we completed private offering of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible

Notes The net proceeds from this offering after initial purchasers fees and other offering costs were approximately $233.0

million Prior to April 20 2014 we will not have the right to redeem the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes except to preserve

our qualification as REIT On and after that date we have the right to redeem the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes in whole

or in part at any time and from time to time for cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus

any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the redemption date Holders of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes may

require us to repurchase their notes in whole or in part on April 15 2014 2019 and 2024 for cash equal to 100% of the principal

amount of the notes to be purchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the repurchase date Holders of the

8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase all or portion of their notes upon the occurrence of specified

corporate transactions each Fundamental Change at repurchase price in cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of

the notes to be repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the fundamental change repurchase date

At issuance the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes had an initial conversion rate of approximately 24.1546 shares of common

stock per $1000 principal amount of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes representing conversion price of approximately

$41.40 per share of our common stock This initial conversion price represented premium of 15% based on the last reported

sale price of $36.00 per share of our common stock on April21 2009 The conversion rate of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible

Notes is subject to adjustments for certain events including but not limited to certain cash dividends on our common stock in

excess of $0.35 per share per quarter and dividends on our common stock payable in shares of our common stock As of Uecember

312009 there was no change from the initial conversion rate of our 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes The aggregate number

of shares that would have been issued assuming conversion of the notes occured on December 31 2009 was approximately

5797000 shares

Holders of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes may convert their notes prior to the stated maturity date of April 15 2029

only under the following circumstances during any calendar quarter after the calendar quarter ending June 30 2009 if the

closing sale price of our common stock for each of 20 or more trading days in period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the

last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter exceeds or is equal to 130% of the conversion price in effect on the

last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter during the five consecutive business days immediately after

any five consecutive trading day period the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Note Measurement Period in which the average

trading price per $1000 principal amount of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes was equal to or less than 98% of the average

conversion value of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes during the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Note Measurement Period

upon the occurrence of Fundamental Change if we call the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes for redemption and

at any time from and including March 15 2029 until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding April 15

2029 or earlier redemption or repurchase Upon conversion holders of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes will receive cash

shares of our common stock or combination thereof as the case may be at our election
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Our 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes have been separated into their liability and equity components as of the issuance date

by recording the liability component at the fair value of similar liability that does not have an associated equity component and

attributing the remaining proceeds from issuance to the equity component The excess of the principal amount of the liability

component over its initial fair value will be amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over period of five

years through April2014 the first date the holders of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase their

notes As of the issuance date of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes we determined the effective interest rate of the notes to

be 11.0% and approximately $26.2 million of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes was classified as equity As of December

312009 the carrying amount of the equity component was approximately $26.2 million For the year ended December 312009

the amount of interest cost recognized for the period before the impact of capitalized interest relating to the contractual interest

coupon was approximately $13.0 million and amortization of the discount on the liability component was approximately $2.9

million As of December31 2009 the book value of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes was approximately $215.9 million

net of an unamortized discount of approximately $24.1 million Based on the December 31 2009 closing stock price of our

common stock and the December 312009 conversion price of the 8.00% Unsecured Convertible Notes the if-converted value of

the notes exceeded the principal amount by approximately $132.7 million as of December 312009

3.70% UNSECURED CONVERTIBLE NOTES In January 2007 we completed private offering of $460 million principal amount

of 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes The net proceeds from this offering after initial purchasers fees and other offering

costs were approximately $450.8 million Prior to January 15 2012 we will not have the right to redeem the 3.70% Unsecured

Convertible Notes except to preserve our qualification as REIT On and after that date we have the right to redeem the 3.70%

Unsecured Convertible Notes in whole or in part at any time and from time to time for cash equal to 100% of the principal

amount of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the

redemption date Holders of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase their notes in whole or in part

on January 15 20122017 and 2022 for cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be purchased plus any accrued

and unpaid interest to but excluding the repurchase date Holders of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes may require us to

repurchase all or portion of their notes upon the occurrence of Fundamental Change including change in control certain

merger or consolidation transactions or the liquidation of the Company at repurchase price in cash equal to 100% of the

principal amount of the notes lobe repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the fundamental change

repurchase date

At issuance the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes had an initial conversion rate of approximately 8.4774 shares of common

stock per $1000 principal amount of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes representing conversion price of approximately

$11 7.96 per share of our common stock This initial conversion price represented premium of 20% based on the last reported

sale price of $98.30 per share of our common stock on January 102007 The conversion rate of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible

Notes is subject to adjustments for certain events including but not limited to certain cash dividends on our common stock in

excess of $0.74 per share per quarter and dividends on our common stock payable in shares of our common stock As of December

31 2009 the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes had conversion rate of approximately 8.5207 shares of common stock per

$1000 principal amount of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes which is equivalent to conversion price of approximately

$11 7.36 per share of our common stock

Holders of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes may convert their notes into cash and if applicable shares of our common

stock prior to the stated maturity of January 15 2027 only under the following circumstances during any calendar quarter

after the calendar quarter ending March 312007 if the closing sale price of our common stock for each of 20 or more trading days

in period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter exceeds

120% of the conversion price in effect on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter during the five

consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive trading day period the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Note

Measurement Period in which the average trading price per $1000 principal amount of 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes

was equal to or less than 98% of the average conversion value of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes during the 3.70%

Unsecured Convertible Note Measurement Period upon the occurrence of Fundamental Change if we call the 3.70%

Unsecured Convertible Notes for redemption and at any time from and including December 15 2026 until the close of

business on the business day immediately preceding January 152027 or earlier redemption or repurchase

In April 2009 we repurchased in privately negotiated transactions certain of our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes

aggregating approximately $75 million par value at an aggregate cash price of approximately $59.2 million As result of the
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repurchases we recognized gain on early extinguishment of debt of approximately $11.3 million net of approximately $860000

in unamortized issuance costs The gain is classified as gain on early extinguishment of debt in the accompanying consolidated

income statements As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the carrying value of the equity component of the 3.70% Unsecured

convertible Notes was approximately $43.5 million and $43.8 million respectively

For the years ended December 3120092008 and 2007 the amount of interest cost recognized before the impact of capitalized

interest relating to the contractual interest coupon of our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes was approximately $15J

million $17.0 million and $15.3 million respectively Additionally for the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 the

amount of interest cost recognized before the impact of capitalized interest relating to the amortization of the discount on the

liability component of our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes was approximately $7.9 million $8.4 million and $7.6 million

respectively As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the book value of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes was approximately

$368.0 million and $431.1 million respectively net of an unamortized discount of approximately $16.7 million and $28.9 million

respectively Our 3.70% Unsecured Convertible Notes require that upon conversion the entire principal amount be settled in

cash and any excess value above the principal amount if applicable in shares of our common stock Based on the December31

2009 closing stock price of our common stock and the December31 2009 conversion price of the 3.70% Unsecured Convertible

Notes the if-converted value of the notes did not exceed the principal amount as of December 312009 and accordingly no shares

of our common stock would be issued if the notes were settled on December 312009

NOTE INTEREST RATE HEDGE AGREEMENTS

We are exposed to certain risks arising from both our business operations and economic conditions We principally manage our

exposures to wide variety of business and operational risks through management of our core business activities We manage

economic risks including interest rate liquidity and credit risk primarily by managing the amount sources and duration of

our debt funding and the use of interest rate hedge agreements Specifically we enter into interest rate hedge agreements to

manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts

the value of which are determined by interest rates Our interest rate hedge agreements are used to manage differences in the

amount timing and duration of our known or expected cash payments principally related to our LIBOR-based borrowings

We do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes and currently all of our derivatives are designated as hedges Our

objectives in using interest rate hedge agreements are to add stability to interest expense and to manage our exposure to interest

rate movements in accordance with our interest rate risk management strategy Interest rate swap agreements designated as cash

flow hedges involve the receipt of variable rate amounts from counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed rate

payments over the life of the interest rate swap agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount Interest rate cap

agreements designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable rate amounts from counterparty if interest rates rise

above the strike rate on the contract in exchange for an up-front premium

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of our interest rate hedge agreements designated and that qualify as cash flow

hedges is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income The amount is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the

period that the hedged forecasted transactions affect earnings During the years ended December31 2009 and 2008 our interest

rate hedge agreements were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with certain of our existing LIBOR-based variable

rate debt including our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of our

interest rate hedge agreements is recognized directly in earnings During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 our

interest rate hedge agreements were 100% effective thus we did not recognize any of the change in fair value of our interest rate

hedge agreements directly into earnings

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 our interest rate swap agreements were classified in accounts payable accrued expenses

and tenant security deposits based upon their respective fair values aggregating liability balance of approximately $49.9 million

and $80.5 million respectively which includes accrued interest and adjustments for risk of non-performance with the offsetting

adjustment reflected as unrealized gain loss in accumulated other comprehensive loss in total equity Also during the year

ended December 31 2009 we entered into an interest rate cap agreement with notional amount approximating $38.4 million
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effective May 152009 and terminating on January 2012 This agreement sets ceiling on one-month LIBOR at 2.50% related

to one secured note The interest rate cap agreement was classified in other assets based upon its fair value aggregating an asset

balance of approximately $189000 as of December31 2009 We have not posted any collateral related to our interest rate hedge

agreements

Balances in accumulated other comprehensive income are recognized in earnings in the periods that the forecasted hedge

transactions affect earnings For the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 approximately $37.5 million and $14.9 million

respectively was reclassified fromaccumulated other comprehensive income to interest expense as an increase to interest expense

For the year ended December 31 2007 approximately $3.6 million was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive

income to interest expense as decrease to interest expense During the next 12 months we expect to reclassify approximately

$28.6 million from accumulated other comprehensive income loss to interest expense as an increase to interest expense

As of December 31 2009 we had the following outstanding interest rate swap agreements that were designated as cash flow

hedges of interest rate risk dollars in thousands

Etteciive at

Transaction Ettective Termination Interest Notional December31 Fair

Date Date Date Pay Rate Amount 2009 Value

December2006 December29 2006 March 312014 4.990% 50000 50000 149481

December2006 Januory2 2007 January3201 5.003 28.500 28.500 113091

Dctober2007 Dctober3l2007 September30 2012 4.546 50000 50000 3733

Dctober2007 October31 .2007 September30 2013 4.442 50000 50000 141951

December2005 January 22008 December312010 4.768 50000 50000 21 031

June2006 June30 2008 June30 2010 5.325 50000 50000 112551

Jane 2006 June 30 2008 June30 2010 5.325 50000 50000 112551

October2007 July 12008 March31 20t3 4.622 25000 25000 20101

October2007 July 12008 March 312013 4.625 25000 25000 12.0201

October2008 October 162008 January312010 2.755 100000 100000 203

June 2006 October31 2008 December312010 5.340 50000 50000 2391

June 2006 October312008 December31 2010 5.347 50000 50000 2.395

October2008 September30 2009 January31 2011 3.119 100000 100000 2693

December2006 Noeember30 2009 March 312014 5.015 75000 75000 74961

December2006 Noeember30 2009 March31 .2014 5.023 75000 75000 7493

December2006 December3l2010 October3l2012 5.015 100000 43591

Total
$828500 149946

The fair value of our interest rate hedge agreements is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques including

discounted cash flow analyses on the expected cash flows of each derivative These analyses reflect the contractual terms of the

derivatives including the period to maturity and use observable market-based inputs including interest rate curves and implied

volatilities also referred to as significant other observable inputs The fair values of our interest rate swap agreements are

determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash payments and the discounted

expected variable cash receipts The variable cash receipts are based on an expectation of future interest rates forward curves

derived from observable market interest rate curves The fair value of our interest rate cap agreement is determined using the

market standard methodology of discounting the future expected cash receipts that would occur if variable interest rates rose

above the strike rate of the interest rate cap agreement The variable interest rate used in the calculation of projected receipts

on the interest rate cap agreement is based on an expectation of future interest rates derived from observable market interest

rate curves and volatilities The fair value calculation also includes an amount for risk of non-performance using significant

unobservable inputs such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default which we have determined

to be insignificant to the overall fair value of our interest rate hedge agreements In adjusting the fair value of our interest rate

hedge agreements for the risk of non-performance we have considered any applicable credit enhancements such as collateral

postings thresholds mutual puts and guarantees
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NOTE COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN We have retirement savings ptan pursuant to Section 401k of the Internal Revenue

Code whereby our emptoyees may contribute portion of their compensation to their respective retirement accounts in an

amount not to exceed the maximum allowed under the Internal Revenue Code tn addition to employee contributions we have

elected to provide discretionary profit sharing contributions subject to statutory limitationswhich amounted to approximately

$809000 $1289000 and $941000 respectively for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 Employees who

participate in the plan are immediately vested in their contributions and in the contributions by the Company

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK We maintain our cash and cash equivalents at insured financial institutions The combined

account balances at each institution periodically exceed FDIC insurance coverage and as result there is concentration of credit

risk related to amounts in excess of FDIC insurance coverage We have not experienced any losses to date on our invested cash

We are dependent on rental income from relatively few tenants in the life science industry The inability of any single tenant

to make its lease payments could adversely affect our operations As of December 31 2009 we held 417 leases with total of

342 tenants and 74 of our 156 properties were each leased to single tenant At December 31 2009 our three largest tenants

accounted for approximately 17.1% of our aggregate annualized base rent

We generally do not require collateral or other security from our tenants other than security deposits In addition to security

deposits held in cash we held approximately $40.9 million in irrevocable letters of credit available fromcertain tenants as security

deposits for 156 leases as of December 312009

COMMITMENTS As of December 312009 remaining aggregate costs under contracts for the construction of properties undergoing

development redevelopment and generic life science laboratory infrastructure improvements under the terms of leases

approximated $186.8 million We expect payments for these obligations to occur over the next one to three years subject to capital

planning adjustments from time to time We were also committed to fund approximately $48.3 million for certain investments

over the next six years

As of December 31 2009 we were committed under the terms of ground leases for 19 of our properties and three land

development parcels These ground lease obligations aggregate approximately $6.6 million in 2010 $7.6 million in 2011 $8.2

million in 2012 $8.6 million in 2013 $8.4 million in 2014 and $572.0 million thereafter and have remaining lease terms from 23

to 97 years exclusive of extension options In addition as of December 31 2009 we were committed under the terms of certain

operating leases for our headquarters and field offices These lease obligations totaled approximately $3.3 million as of December

312009 and have remaining lease terms of less than one year up to three years exclusive of extension options

NOTE 10 ISSUANCES OF COMMON STOCK

In September 2009 we sold 4600000 shares of our common stock in follow-on offering including shares issued upon full

exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option The shares were issued at price of $53.25 per share resulting in aggregate

proceeds of approximately $233.5 million after deducting underwriters discounts and other offering costs

In March 2009 we sold 7000000 shares of our common stock in follow-on offering The shares were issued at price of

$38.25 per share resulting in aggregate proceeds of approximately $254.6 milhon after deducting underwriters discounts and

other offering costs

In September 2007 we sold 2300000 shares of our common stock in follow-on offering including the shares issued upon

exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option The shares were issued at price of $96.00 per share resulting in aggregate

proceeds of approximately $215 million after deducting underwriting discounts and other offering costs
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NOTE 11.PREFERREDSTOCKANDEXCESSSTOCK

SERIES PREFER RED STOCK In January 2002 we completed public offering of 2300000 shares of our Series Preferred Stock

including the shares issued upon exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option The shares were issued at price of

$25.00 per share resulting in aggregate proceeds of approximately $55.1 million after deducting underwriters discounts and

other offering costs The dividends on our Series Preferred Stock were cumulative and accrued from the date of issuance We

paid dividends quarterly in arrears at an annual rate of $2 .275 per share Our Series Preferred Stock had no stated maturity were

not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption and were not redeemable prior to January 22 2007 except in order to

preserve our status as REIT Investors in our Series Preferred Stock generally had no voting rights

In February 2007 we called for redemption of our Series Preferred Stock The Series Preferred Stock was redeemed in

March 2007 at redemption price equal to $25.00 per share plus $04107639 per share representing accumulated and unpaid

dividends to the redemption date As discussed in Note we recorded charge of approximately $2.S million for costs related to

the redemption of the Series Preferred Stock

SERIES PREFERRED STOCK In June 2004 we completed public offering of 5185500 shares of our Senes Preferred Stock

including the shares issued upon exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option The shares were issued at price of $25.00

per share resulting in aggregate proceeds of approximately $124.0 million after deducting underwriters discounts and other

offering costs The dividends on our Series Preferred Stock are cumulative and accrue from the date of original issuance We

pay dividends quarterly in arrears at an annual rate of $209375 per share Our Series Preferred Stock has no stated maturity

is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption and was not redeemable prior to June 29 2009 except in order to

preserve our status as REIT Investors in our Series Preferred Stock generally have no voting rights On or after June 29 2009

we may at our option redeem our Series Preferred Stock in whole or in part at any time for cash at redemption price of $25.00

per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends

SERIES CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK In March and April 2008 we completed public offering of 10000000 shares of

Series Convertible Preferred Stock The shares were issued at price of $25.00 per share resulting in aggregate proceeds of

approximately $242 million after deducting underwriters discounts and other offering costs The proceeds from this offering

were used to pay down outstanding borrowings on our unsecured line of credit The dividends on our Senes Convertible

Preferred Stock are cumulative and accrue from the date of original issuance We pay dividends quarterly in arrears at an annual

rate of $1.75 per share Our Series Convertible Preferred Stock has no stated maturity is not subject to any sinking fund or

mandatory redemption provisions and we are not allowed to redeem our Series Convertible Preferred Stock except to preserve

our status as REIT Investors in our Series Convertible Preferred Stock generally have no voting rights On or after April 20

2013we may at our option be able to cause some or all of our Series Convertible Preferred Stock to be automatically converted

if the closing sale price per share of our common stock equals or exceeds 150% of the then-applicable conversion price of the

Series Convertible Preferred Stock for at least 20 trading days in period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading

day immediately prior to our issuance of press release announcing the exercise of our conversion option Holders of our Series

Convertible Preferred Stock at their option may at any time and from time to time convert some or all of their outstanding

shares initially at conversion rate of 0.2477 shares of common stock per $25.00 liquidation preference which was equivalent

to an initial conversionprice of approximately $100.93 per share of common stock The conversion rate for the Series Convertible

Preferred Stock is subject to adjustments for certain events including but not limited to certain dividends on our common

stock in excess of $0.78 per share per quarter and dividends on our common stock payable in shares of our common stock

As of December 31 2009 the Series Convertible Preferred Stock had conversion rate of approximately 0.2480 shares of

common stock per $25.00 liquidation preference which is equivalent to conversion price of approximately $100.81 per share of

common stock

PREFERRED STOCK AND EXCESS STOCK AUTHORIZATIONS Our charter authorizes the issuance of up to 100000000 shares of

preferred stock of which 15185500 shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31 2009 In addition 200000000

shares of excess stock as defined are authorized none of which were issued and outstanding at December 312009
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OTE 12 STOCK LAN

1997 STOCK PLAN In 1997 we adopted stock option and incentive plan for the purpose of attracting and retaining the highest-

quality personnel providing for additional incentives and promoting the success of the Company by providing employees the

opportunity to acquire common stock pursuant to options to purchase common stock and share awards In May 2008 we
amended and restated the 1997 stock option and incentive plan the Restated 1997 Stock Plan to increase the number of shares

reserved for the grant of awards and extend the termof the Restated 1997 Stock Plan to May 2018 among other amendments As of

December 312009 total of 629896 shares were reserved for the granting of future options and share awards under the Restated

1997 Stock Plan

Options under our plan have been granted at prices that are equal to the market value of the stock on the date of grant and expire

ten years after the date of grant The options outstanding under the Restated 1997 Stock Plan expire at various dates through

October 2012 We have not granted any stock options since 2002

summary of the stock option activity under our Restated 1997 Stock Plan and related information for the years ended

December 3120092008 and 2007 follows

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding as of December 31 2009 was approximately $2.5 million

In addition the Restated 1997 Stock Plan permits us to issue share awards to our employees and non-employee directors

share award is an award of common stock that may be
fully vested upon issuance or maybe subject to the risk of forfeiture

under Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code Shares issued generally vest over three-year period from the date of issuance
and the sale of the shares is restricted prior to the date of vesting The unearned portion of these awards is amortized as stock

compensation expense on straight-line basis over the vesting period

2009 2088 2t07

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Aeerage Aeerege Aeerege
Steck Exercise Steck Esercise Steck Exercise

Optiecs Price Ontiene Price Optiens Price

Outstanding at
begieeing etyear 186054 43.88 255345 $41.80 338680 38.20

Granted

Esercised
1675291 44.46 1692911 36.22 1833351 27.16

Ferteited

Outstandieg atend
etyear 118225 43.55 186054 43.88 255345 $41.80

Eeercisabteatendefyear 18225 43.55 186054 43.88 255345 $41 .80

Weightedaeeragefaireatueeteptiensgraeted

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December31 2009

Weig hted

Weighted Aserage

Aserage Number Remaining

Exercise et Centractual

Range ot Exercise Prices
Price

Optiens Lite un yeersl

$31.55- $42.40
38.55 40725 1.4

$42.74-$43.so
43.43 27505 2.3

$47.69
47.69 50000

$3t.88-$47.69
43.55 118225 2.t
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As of December 31 2009 and 2008 there were 455182 and 475421 shares respectively of nonvested awards outstanding

During 2009 we granted 312661 shares of common stock 331650 share awards vested and 1250 shares were forfeited During

2008 we granted 230663 shares of common stock 209523 share awards vested and 3675 shares were forfeited During 2007

we granted 294376 shares of common stock 275487 share awards vested and 5282 shares were forfeited The weighted

average grant-date fair value of share awards granted during 2009 was approximately $53.14 per share and the total fair value of

share awards vested based on the market price on the vesting date was approximately $16.4 million As of December31 2009

there was $26.7 million of unrecognized compensation related to nonvested share awards under the Restated 1997 Stock Plan

which is expected to be recognized over the next three years and has weighted average period of approximately twelve months

Capitalized stock compensation was approximately $8774000 $7019000 and $8677000 in 20092008 and 2007 respectively

and is treated as reduction of general and administrative costs in the accompanying consolidated statements of income

NOTE 13 NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Noncontrolling interests represent the third-party interests in certain entities in which we have controlling interest and third-

party interest in variable interest entity in which we are the primary beneficiary These entities own eight properties and three

development parcels and are included in our consolidated financial statements Noncontrolling interests is adjusted for additional

contributions and distributions the proportionate share of the net earnings or losses and other comprehensive income or loss

Distributions profits and losses related to these entities are allocated in accordance with the respective operating agreements

Certain of our noncontrolling interests have the right to require us to redeem their ownership interests in the respective

entities We classify these ownership interests in the entities as redeemable noncontrolling interests outside of total equity in

the accompanying consolidated balance sheets Redeemable noncontrolling interests is adjusted for additional contributions

and distributions the proportionate share of the net earnings or losses and other comprehensive income or loss Distributions

profits and losses related to these entities are allocated in accordance with the respective operating agreements If the carrying

amount of redeemable noncontrolling interests is less than the maximum redemption value at the balance sheet date such

amount is adjusted to the maximum redemption value Subsequent declines in the redemption value are recognized only to

the extent previously recorded increases have been recorded pursuant to the preceding sentence As of December 31 2009 and

2008 the redeemable noncontrolling interest balances were approximately $41.4 million and $34.0 million respectively The

remaining noncontrolling interests aggregating approximately $41.2 million and $41.1 million as of December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively do not have rights to require us to purchase their ownership interests and are classified in total equity in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we were the primary beneficiary of VIE that owns development parcel with carrying

value of approximately $92.3 million and $88.0 million respectively The development parcel serves as collateral for non

recourse secured loan that had balances of approximately $38.4 million and $50.7 million at December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively and matures in April2013 assuming we exercise our sole right to extend the maturity date from the original maturity

date of January 2012 We may in certain circumstances be obligated to provide additional capital to the VIE in accordance

with the operating agreement As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the noncontrolling interests balance related to this entity

was approximately $23.9 million and $15.3 million respectively and is reflected in redeemable noncontrolling interests in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets
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NOTE 14 NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31 2008 building improvements and equipment aggregating $13407000 were transferred to

the Company in non-cash transaction The amount of building improvements and equipment recognized in this transaction was

determined based upon the estimated fair value of the improvements received This amount is also recognized as additional rental

income amortized over the remaining termof the applicable lease

During the year ended December31 2007 we had one non-cash transaction related to the acquisition of one property located

in the Eastern Massachusetts market We paid approximately $92.1 million for the property which was composed of an aggregate

purchase price of approximately $150.0 million less the assumption of secured note payable of approximately $57.9 million

NOTE 15 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The following is summary of income from discontinued operations net and net assets liabilities of discontinued operations

in thousands

YearEnded December31 2tt9 2008 2007

Total revenue
7892 $1 1347 $19711

Operating expenses 2700 3273 5695

Revenue less
operating expenses 5192 8074 14.tl

Interest expense 1002 2439 3530

Depreciation expense
.599 2349 4448

SubtotaL
2591 3286 6038

Gain/toss on properties held forsale and sates of
property net 2627 5751 7976

Income from discontinued operations net 5218 $1 9037 $1 4014

December31 2009 2008

Properties heldforsale net of accumulated depreciation 30583 9189

Otherassets
1.591 54

Totalassets
$32174 9243

Totalliabilitiex
1596 13966

Netassets liabilitiesi of discontinued operations $30578 147231

Income from discontinued operations net for 2009 includes the results of operations of three properties that were classified as

held for sale as of December 312009 and four properties sold during 2009 Income from discontinued operations net for 2008

includes the results of operations of three properties that were classified as held for sale as of December 312009 four properties

sold during 2009 and eight properties sold during 2008 During 2008 we recorded non-cash impairment charge of $4650000
related to an industrial building located in suburban submarket south of Boston and an office building located in the San Diego

market that has been included above in gain/loss on properties held for sale and sales of property net We completed the sale
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of these two buildings in 2008 Income from discontinued operations net for 2007 includes the results of operations of three

properties that were classified as held for sale as of December31 2009 four properties sold during 2009 eight properties sold

during 2008 and four properties and four land parcels sold during 2007

NOTE 16.QUARTERLYFINANCIALOATAIUNAUOITEDI

The following is summary of consolidated financial information on quarterly basis for 2009 and 2008 in thousands

except per share amounts

Quarter
First Second Third Fourth

2009

RevenuestU 130760 120406 $114605 $114369

Net income attributable toAlesandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

commonstockhotdnrs 32760 32290 18203 21650

Earnings pershare attributabletoAlesandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders

Basic1 1.01 0.83 0.47 t.50

Qiluted
1.01 0.82 0.47 0.49

Quarter
First Second Third Fourth

2O08

Resenues $107251 $107351 $112531 $124504

Net incomeattributabletoAlesandria ReatEstate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders 32769 19420 19318 19224

Earnings pershareattributable toAlesandria Real Estate Equities Inc.s

common stockholders

Basic 1.04 0.61 0.61 0.61

Qiluted2 1.03 0.61 0.61 0.60

it au periods have been adjusted 1mm amounts previously disclosed in our quarterly tilings on Form 10-0 to reclassity amounts related In discontinued operations 5ee Note 15

Discontinued Operations

121 Ouarterlyeurniogu percommon uhareumnuotsmaynnttntaltntheannualamountsdueto rounding and duetatheditterent namberetweightedaveratecOmmOnsharesuutstaodint

ioi all periods include the retrospective impact at oem accounting literature adopted on January 12009 related to accounting tsr and disclosure ot convertible debt ouncontmottiog

interests and participating securities See Note Oasis ut Presentation and SummaryotSigeiticastAccuantina
Policies
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MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITYSECURITIES

ALexandria Real Estate Equities Inc

OUR COMMON STOCK is traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the symbol ARE On February 24 2010 the

last reported sales price per share of our common stock was $61.68 and there were approximately 257 holders of record of our

common stock excluding beneficial owners whose shares are held in the name of Cede Co. The following table sets forth the

quarterly high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported on the NYSE and the distributions paid by us with

respect to our common stock for each such period

Per ha re

Period
High Low Distribution

2009

Fourth Quarter 68.24 51.35 0.35

Third Quarter 62.49 30.33 0.35

Second Quarter 43.76 30.48 0.35

First Quarter 66.69 $31.19 $0.80

2008

Fourth Quarter $112.72 $33.12 $0.00

Third Quarter $116.50 92.55 $0.00

Second Quarter 107.50 92.73 $0.80

First Quarter $104.23 $85.97 $0.78

Future distributions on our common stock will be determined by and at the discretion of our board of directors and will

be dependent upon number of factors including actual cash available for distribution our financial condition and capital

requirements the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and such other

factors as our board of directors deems relevant To maintain our qualification as REIT we must make annual distributions

to stockholders of at least 90% of our taxable income for the current taxable year determined without regard to deductions for

dividends paid and excluding any net capital gains Under certain circumstances we may be required to make distributions in

excess of cash flow available for distributions to meet these distribution requirements In such case we may borrow funds or

may raise funds through the issuance of additional debt or equity capital No dividends can be paid on our common stock unless

we have paid full cumulative dividends on our Series Preferred Stock and Series Convertible Preferred Stock From the date

of issuance of our preferred stock through December31 2009 we have paid full cumulative dividends on our Series Preferred

Stock and Series Convertible Preferred Stock We cannot assure our stockholders that we will make any future distributions
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